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To connect buyers and sellers through
“flip”, “call”, “click” products and services

To be the leading multi-platform directory 
search & advertising solutions provider



Corporate 
Profile 

We maximise reach of directories to end-    users
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Listed on Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-

ST”) on 9 December 2004, Yellow Pages Singapore is the 

leading multi-platform solutions provider in directory search 

and advertising, bridging buyers and sellers locally and overseas 

through its wide portfolio of user-friendly and cost-effective  

“flip, call, click” products and services.

We maximise reach of directories to end-    users



The Company maintains, develops and updates extensive classified databases of information 
on businesses, the core of which are small and medium-sized enterprises (“SMEs”)  
in Singapore.

The principal activity of the Company is the sale of advertising in, and the preparation 
and publication of, classified directories which connect businesses to businesses (B2B) and 
businesses to consumers (B2C). Addressing the needs of today’s advertisers and users for 
multiple platforms of directory search, Yellow Pages Singapore also offers related products 
and services, including on-line products and services, an operator-assisted telephone search 
service and database marketing services. In addition, the Company publishes and distributes 
specialised or niche directories and guides.

Yellow Pages Singapore’s multi-platform solutions comprise:-

Platform Products/Services

“Flip” (Print) • Singapore Phone Directories :-

- Yellow Pages Buying Guide

- Yellow Pages Commercial/Industrial Guide

- Chinese Yellow Pages/White Pages

- White Pages Business Listings

- White Pages Residential Listings

“Call” (Telephone) • CitySearch (Telephone Number: 1900-777-7777)

“Click” (Internet) • Internet Yellow Pages : www.yellowpages.com.sg

Others • Singapore Infocomm Directory

• Visitors’ Guide to Singapore

• Yipee!

• Precision Marketing

• Other Services

With over 37 years of experience in publishing and advertising sales, 
Yellow Pages Singapore is the largest publisher of telephone directories 
and provider of classified directory advertising and associated products 
and services in Singapore. 
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Evolution of Yellow Pages Singapore

9 December 2004 Yellow Pages Singapore listed on SGX-ST

30 June 2003 Yellow Pages (Singapore) Pte Ltd acquired certain businesses, assets and liabilities of 
SingTel Yellow Pages Pte Ltd at $220 million (with an additional $6 million paid to SingTel 
Yellow Pages Pte Ltd as working capital adjustments relating to the acquisition)

23 May 2003 Yellow Pages (Singapore) Pte Ltd was incorporated

1998 Integrated Information Pte Ltd was renamed SingTel Yellow Pages Pte Ltd (now known 
as “SingTel Interactive Pte Ltd”)

1985 General Telephone Directory Company (Singapore) Private Limited was renamed 
Integrated Information Pte Ltd after Telecommunications Authority of Singapore (“TAS”) 
fully acquired the company

1975 A joint venture company was incorporated under the name of General Telephone 
Directory Company (Singapore) Private Limited owned as to 60% by TAS and 40% by 
General Telephone Directory Co. (“GTDC”)

1974 TAS and GTDC signed a joint venture agreement to incorporate a company to acquire 
the business of GTDC’s Singapore branch

1967 Business formed when GTE Directories (“GTE”) signed an agreement with the Singapore 
Telephone Board for GTE’s subsidiary, the Singapore branch of GTDC, to publish the 
Singapore telephone directory

Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited
Singapore

Integrated Databases India Ltd
India

Integrated Information (M) Sdn Bhd
Malaysia

Forward Media Sdn Bhd
Brunei Darussalam

Viva Bahagia Sdn Bhd
Malaysia

Tourism Publications Corporation Sdn Bhd
Malaysia

49%1 50%2

100%

100%100%



Financial 
Highlights

We enrich the content of our directories      to end-users
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We are heartened to report that Yellow Pages Singapore managed 

to stay focused on our core “flip, call, click” multi-platform 

solutions business and deliver good profit and strong cash flow 

as we continued to strengthen our financial position and reward 

our shareholders with generous dividend payouts.

We enrich the content of our directories      to end-users



Financial Highlights
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Chairman’s/
CEO’s Message 

We increase the value proposition to      advertisers
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“With a strong focus on our growth strategies, constant 

innovation for our products & services, as well as expanding 

distribution channel & reach, we aim to strengthen our position 

as the leading multi-platform directory search & advertising 

solutions provider connecting buyers and sellers.”

We increase the value proposition to      advertisers



Our initial public offering (“IPO”) in November 2004 and subsequent 
listing of our shares on the SGX-ST in December 2004 marked a 
significant milestone in our corporate history.

BUILDING ON FOUNDATION

At Yellow Pages Singapore, we are building on our foundation by combining our business 
fundamentals with our culture of nimbleness and willingness to make changes to take us to the 
next level of success as a multi-platform directory search & advertising solutions provider.

Yellow Pages Singapore was first established over 37 years ago in 1967.  Our business began 
when we first published the Singapore telephone directory, which included Yellow Pages print 
advertising in separate English and Chinese editions.

Evolving with the needs of today’s businesses and consumers for multi-platform search 
solutions, we have today become a leading information and integrated media company 
in directory search and advertising with a wide range of products from printed directories 
- “flip”, to telephone search service – “call”, to online portal - “click”.

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

I am pleased to report that we continued to enjoy a profitable year in the financial year  
ended 31 March 2005 (“FY2005”). We achieved a net profit of $10.3 million on revenue of 
$61.3 million for FY2005.

Based on sound financial management, we recorded further strengthening of our financial 
position. We improved our current ratio considerably from 1.4 times as at 31 March 2004 to 
4.4 times as at 31 March 2005.  Substantial cash flows were also generated during the year, 
bringing our cash holding to $36.6 million as at 31 March 2005 from $11.4 million as at the 
end of the financial year ended 31 March 2004 (“FY2004”). Our net gearing improved from 
12.6 times as at 31 March 2004 to a comfortable 0.8 time as of 31 March 2005. 

DIVIDEND

In accordance with our dividend policy as set out in our IPO prospectus, our Board of Directors 
has proposed a dividend payout of approximately 100% of the Company’s profit after tax for 
FY2005 and a special dividend of $8.4 million payable from the Company’s retained earnings. 
This works out to a total dividend of 11.8 cents per ordinary share, comprising a first and final 
dividend of 6.5 cents per ordinary share and special dividend of 5.3 cents per ordinary share. 



Yellow Pages Singapore    Annual Report 2005 13Yellow Pages Singapore    Annual Report 2005 13

The Board remains committed to the objective of maximising shareholder value, including the 
desire to maintain the current dividend payout rate of approximately 100% of our net profi t.

GROWTH STRATEGIES

As we make headway in our initiatives to enhance the value proposition of our “fl ip, call, 
click” multi-platform solutions, our experienced management team also focuses on ensuring 
that such initiatives are supported by well-planned sales & marketing strategies. It is through 
these proactive multi-pronged strategies that we strive to maximise our value to our end-
users, advertisers and stakeholders.

In the current year ending 31 March 2006, Yellow Pages Singapore will continue to focus 
on our immediate objective of growing our advertiser base by value-adding to our products 
and services for the end-users and advertisers. Building on our strong brand equity, we will 
continue to increase both our advertisers acquisition and retention through our fi ve-pronged 
expansion strategies.

1) Maximising reach of directories to end-users – Door-to-door delivery

In August 2005, we are scheduled to implement our door-
to-door directory delivery strategy. Our objective is for the 
2005/2006 Buying Guide to be delivered to virtually all 
households in Singapore, while substantially all businesses 
will receive at their door-steps both the Buying Guide and the 
Commercial/Industrial Guide. This distribution model has been 
successfully practised in developed markets such as the USA 
and Europe.

We expect this new initiative to increase multi-fold the respective 
reach of our Buying Guide to virtually all households and businesses, 
and of our Commercial/Industrial Guide to practically all businesses 
in Singapore.  The higher reach should boost our directory usage, which would in turn raise 
our value proposition to our advertisers, and therefore our advertiser penetration rate and 
advertising revenue.

2) Enriching content of directories to end-users – Vertical guide & discount coupon

In our 2004/2005 Buying Guide, we included a discount coupon section, which enables 
our advertisers to offer discounts on their products and services to our end-users.  We also 



added a vertical guide which is a special advertising section within the 
2004/2005 Buying Guide dedicated to a specifi c theme. Our 2005/2006 
Buying Guide has been further enhanced to include a total of 5 vertical 
guide sections to allow for more targeted advertising by our advertisers. 
These initiatives enhance the usefulness of our directories to the end-users, 
which in turn create more opportunities for our advertisers to reach their 
target customers.

3) Increasing value proposition to advertisers 
 – New advertising packages

We understand the needs of our advertisers. Addressing these needs, we 
offer a host of advertising packages to facilitate advertisers to upgrade 
their advertisements or to advertise in multiple related sections in our 
directories so as to reach out to more customers. To new advertisers not familiar with Yellow 
Pages or advertising, our packages offer them opportunities to “sample” the benefi ts of 
advertising in Yellow Pages.

4) Building our front line – Improving customer service

We place great emphasis on a well-trained sales force capable of developing excellent customer 
relationships and a good understanding of our advertisers’ needs. In September 2004, we 
implemented new performance and compensation policies for our sales force that we believe 
will improve our ability to attract, retain and motivate our sales talents.

5) Growing Internet Yellow Pages (“IYP”) to expand earning base 
 – New online solutions

Recognising the untapped growth opportunities offered by the Internet, 
Yellow Pages Singapore is set to capitalise on our strong brand name to 
expand our “click” solutions so as to offer an additional avenue to our 
advertisers to reach out to their customers. We have been seeing the 
explosive and widespread usage of the Internet and are focusing on an 
on-line strategy designed to increase the value of our on-line advertising 
solutions to appeal to our print advertisers.

We are adding new features to our IYP to improve user experience and 
increase the number of returning visitors. These include our advanced 
search features that allow people to search by specifi c industry sub-
classifi cations as well as by locations.
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We expect our IYP segment to continue to deliver growth from its current low base and 
increase its contribution to the Group’s results.

PROSPECTS

Many challenges and opportunities await us in the years ahead. We will continue our five-
pronged expansion strategies to grow our core “flip, call, click” multi-platform solutions based 
on our printed directories, call centre and the Internet.

Some of our growth initiatives are already starting to bear fruit while others may take more 
time to yield significant results and for the financial benefits to be fully realised. 

When we embark on our door-to-door delivery strategy, we will have the widest reach of any 
print advertising medium in Singapore. There is definitely room for growth for the directory 
advertising business in Singapore. Current advertiser penetration of the Singapore Phone 
Directories is only 11% as compared to the experience in the more mature markets overseas. 
Many of them reported a penetration rate of 20% or more. This gives us ample untapped 
market for growth.

IN APPRECIATION

The listing of Yellow Pages Singapore on the SGX-ST is indeed a major milestone for us. It signifies 
another fresh chapter in our ongoing pursuit of leadership and excellence in all our markets. 

We would not have been able to achieve the results without the strong and unwavering support 
of our business partners and associates, bankers, suppliers and employees. We would like to 
extend our sincere appreciation to all of them.

We would also like to thank all our shareholders for their support and confidence in us. We look 
forward to your continued support as we strive towards delivering greater accomplishments 
in the years to come.

Goh Sik Ngee
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited



Operations
Review

We improve our customer service by       strengthening our front line
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Yellow Pages Singapore is the leading multi-platform directory 

search & advertising solutions provider connecting businesses 

and consumers through our wide portfolio of user-friendly and 

cost-effective “flip, call, click” products and services.

We improve our customer service by       strengthening our front line



OVERVIEW

The Group’s “flip, call, click” multi-platform solutions comprise:

Platform Products/Services

Print
(“Flip”)

• Singapore Phone Directories (“SPD”):-
- Yellow Pages Buying Guide
- Yellow Pages Commercial/Industrial Guide
- Chinese Yellow Pages/White Pages
- White Pages Business Listings
- White Pages Residential Listings

  

† The circulation of the respective 2004/2005 directories were as follows: 
   - 842,000 Buying Guide
   - 526,000 Industrial/Commercial Guide
   - 91,000 Chinese Guide
   - 1.6 million English White Pages Directories (including CD-ROM versions)

Telephone
(“Call”)

• CitySearch (Telephone Number: 1900-777-7777)
 -  A premium operator assistance telephone search service launched in 2000
 -  Received an average of 24,000 calls per month in FY2005

Internet
(“Click”)

• Internet Yellow Pages (“IYP”): www.yellowpages.com.sg
 -  The most comprehensive online bilingual directory in Singapore
 -  In FY2005, it attracted an average of 10.0 million page views and 3.9 million 

searches per month

Others • Singapore Infocomm Directory (“SID”)
 -  Contains fax, telex, email and website addresses of businesses
 -  The 2005 SID achieved a circulation of approximately 40,000

The Company is the largest publisher of telephone directories 
as well as the leading provider of classified directory advertising 
and associated products and services in Singapore.

Operating Data 2004/2005  SPD
Combined Annual Circulation 3.0 million†

Number of Advertisements 51,000
Number of Unique Advertisers 11,154
Average Revenue per Unique Advertiser $5,144
Singapore Advertiser Retention Rate 75.6%
Total Singapore Advertiser Penetration Rate 10.8%
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FY2005 PERFORMANCE IN REVIEW

The majority of our revenue is derived from the sale of advertising space in our SPD. Due 
to the nature of our business, revenue from the SPD reported for FY2005 was generated 
during the sales canvass carried out from September 2003 to April 2004, and recognised 
according to the rate of distribution of the directories.  The distribution process began in 
August 2004 and was substantially completed by March 2005.

The post-SARS canvass months from September 2003 to April 2004 were challenging for the 
advertising industry as sentiment was weighed down by the uncertain economic prospects, 
leading to cuts in advertising expenditures by many businesses.

Against such backdrop, we are heartened to report that Yellow Pages Singapore managed to 
stay focused on our core “flip, call, click” multi-platform solutions business, thereby delivering 
good profit and strong cash flow as we continued to strengthen our financial position and 
reward our shareholders with generous dividend payouts.

Others 
(continued)

• Visitors’ Guide to Singapore
-  A travel guide distributed free of charge to hotels, serviced apartments, visitors’ centres, 

travel agencies, convention centres and taxis
-  The 2004/2005 Visitors’ Guide had a circulation of approximately 59,000

• Precision Marketing
-  Using a comprehensive database to assist corporate customers with the editing and

updating of their databases
     
• Other Services

-  Operation of on-line shopping mall that enables businesses to sell their products on-line
-  Design and hosting of websites for businesses
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Changes in Financial Position 

31 March 2005 31 March 2004

Cash
Working Capital
Borrowings
Net Borrowings
Current Ratio
Net Gearing Ratio

$36.6m
$48.6m

$130.0m
$93.4m

4.4 x
0.8 x

$11.4m
$11.1m

$213.9m
$202.5m

1.4 x
12.6 x

Based on sound business fundamentals and financial management, we have substantially 
bolstered our financial position during the year. Our cash reserve more than tripled from $11.4 
million as at 31 March 2004 to $36.6 million as at 31 March 2005.  We improved our net gearing 
from 12.6 times as at 31 March 2004 to a healthy 0.8 time as of 31 March 2005. Our working 
capital position also further strengthened during the year, and we improved our current ratio 
significantly from 1.4 times as at 31 March 2004 to 4.4 times as at 31 March 2005.

Results of Operations

Notes on illustrative income statement

Yellow Pages Singapore acquired the business and certain assets and liabilities of SingTel Yellow 
Pages Pte Ltd (now known as “SingTel Interactive Pte Ltd”) on 30 June 2003. Our Group results 
for the period from 23 May 2003 (date of incorporation of Yellow Pages Singapore) to 31 
March 2004 therefore did not reflect what the results might have been had the current Group 
structure been in place since 1 April 2003. Consequently, our results in FY2005 were not directly 
comparable with those in FY2004.  

To enable an illustrative comparison of the Group’s performance had the current Group structure 
and ownership been in place since 1 April 2003, a summarised illustrative income statement 
of the Group for FY2004 has also been prepared. The illustrative income statement has been 
prepared on a basis consistent with that of the proforma financial statements under the “Basis 
of Presentation and Compilation of the Proforma Financial Statements of the Group” section in 
the IPO Prospectus dated 22 November 2004. Whilst accounting policies used for the illustrative 
income statement are consistent with those adopted for the Group’s actual income statement 
for FY2005, it is not compiled in a format to provide all disclosures required to comply with all 
applicable Singapore generally accepted accounting principles.

The illustrative income statement is not necessarily indicative of the results that would have 
been attained if the Group had been in existence since 1 April 2003, and thus, it should not be 
relied upon for comparison purposes. The illustrative income statement has not been subject 
to audit or review.
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Revenue

Operating Revenue FY2005 FY2004
 Actual Illustrative Income Statement
 (Audited) (Unaudited)
 $’m $’m
Sale of advertising space 60.4 70.6
Provision of advertising related services 0.3 0.5
Sale of directories  0.1 -
Call centre related services 0.5 0.7

Total Operating Revenue 61.3 71.8

Operating revenue in FY2005 comprised mainly sale of advertising space in our 2004/2005 SPD. 
Due to the nature of our business, revenue from the SPD reported for FY2005 was generated 
during our sales canvass from September 2003 to April 2004, and recognised according to 
the rate of distribution of the directories.  The 14.6% lower operating revenue in FY2005 was 
largely attributable to reduced advertising expenditures by many of our advertisers after the 
SARS outbreak affecting demand during the canvass period.

In particular, there were 58,000 advertisements in our 2003/2004 SPD, compared with 51,000 
in our 2004/2005 SPD. The number of unique advertisers fell from 11,766 in 2003/2004 SPD 
to 11,154 in 2004/2005 SPD. Our average revenue per unique advertiser declined from $5,379 
for the 2003/2004 SPD to $5,144 for 2004/2005 SPD.

Profitability

Income Statement FY2005 FY2004
 Actual Illustrative Income Statement 
 (Audited) (Unaudited) Change
 $’m $’m +/(-)%
Operating revenue 61.3 71.8 (14.6)
Other operating income 0.9 0.9 (4.2)
Operating expenses (33.5) (40.8) (17.9)
Profit from operations 28.7 31.9 (10.1)
Finance income 1.2 0.2 NM
Finance expense (16.2) (11.3) 43.8
Share of results of associated
  companies before tax (0.9) 1.1 NM
Profit before tax 12.8 21.9 (41.6)
Profit after tax 10.3 17.1 (39.8)

NM - Not Meaningful



Profit from operations decreased 10.1% to $28.7 million in FY2005 on lower revenue.  However, 
we managed to improve our operating profit margin from 44.5% in FY2004 to 46.8% in FY2005 
owing to improved efficiency achieved from successful cost control measures.

In FY2005, we successfully trimmed our operating expenses by 17.9% from the $40.8 million 
in FY2004 to $33.5 million in FY2005 mainly on lower printing & material costs, staff costs and 
selling & administrative expenses.

The two main direct cost components, printing & material costs and staff costs, fell in line with 
lower operating revenue. The lower staff costs were also attributable to reduced staff head 
count as a result of operational rationalisation to improve efficiencies.  

Selling & administrative expenses decreased mainly because of lower doubtful debt provisions 
and professional fees. High professional fees were incurred in FY2004 in connection with a 
study we procured about our customer profile, and due to our acquisition of the business, 
certain assets and liabilities of SingTel Yellow Pages Pte Ltd in June 2003.

Finance income of $1.2 million consisted mainly of the one-time, cash gain on termination of 
interest rate swap relating to the bank term loan which was repaid in advance in September 
2004.  Finance expense was 43.8% higher than last year primarily because of the $4.8 million 
one-time, non-cash amortisation charge of deferred financing cost upon the afore-mentioned  
early repayment of the bank term loan.

For consistency with our Group’s revenue recognition policy, we deferred the recording of 
certain FY2005 advertising revenue and related direct costs of an associated company to the 
next financial year. As a result of this timing difference in recognising the positive $1.8 million 
share of this associated company’s FY2005 pre-tax results only in FY2006, associated companies 
as a whole contributed negatively to Group results in FY2005.

Tax expense fell 13.5% due to lower taxable profit and the recognition of deferred tax assets 
by two subsidiaries in Malaysia.

Profit after tax of $10.3 million was lower by 39.8% mainly because of lower profit from 
operations, higher one-time finance expense and the negative share of results of associated 
companies due to the timing difference in revenue and profit recognition.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Print (“Flip”)

FY2005 was an exciting year of new initiatives.  To increase the value and reach for our advertisers, 
we introduced vertical guides (by specific theme or industry) and a discount coupon section for 



Yellow Pages Singapore    Annual Report 2005 23Yellow Pages Singapore    Annual Report 2005 23

our Buying Guide. We also improved our offering of advertising packages 
and introduced more innovative advertising options in our directories.

To attract new advertisers, we provided a host of good-value offerings. 
Targeted at SMEs, these new packages offer advertisers a cost effective 
way to reach out to their customers.  Our constantly improving value 
offerings have been well received by both our new and existing 
advertisers, as well as the end-users of directories.

We implemented new performance and compensation policies for our 
sales force in September 2004 to better attract, motivate and retain our 
talents, thereby enhancing tangible returns on our investments in our 
new value-creation initiatives. 

In August 2005, we are scheduled to implement the delivery of our 2005/2006 Buying Guide 
and Commercial/Industrial Guide to substantially all businesses and households in Singapore.  
We believe such direct delivery will increase the effective reach of the Buying Guide and the 
Commercial/Industrial Guide which potentially will help increase usage of our directories by 
our end-users. We are confident that with our enhanced value proposition to advertisers, 
we will be better positioned to attract new advertisers and improve the retention of current 
advertisers.

Telephone (“Call”)

CitySearch (telephone number: 1900-777-7777)  
is a premium operator assistance search 
service. Established in 2000, CitySearch is the 
only operator assistance service in Singapore 
providing lifestyle information, on top of basic  
directory search.

At 60 cents per call, CitySearch offers comprehensive information on 
products and services, including phone numbers and addresses of 
businesses, emergency services, movie show times, as well as other 
services such as dining reservations and reverse search based on telephone 
numbers. Call back service is also provided at no extra charge when 
information requested requires further search. 

In addition to call charges, revenue is also generated from advertisers 
who subscribe to CitySearch. Advertisers are placed on a priority list and 
given “priority mention” on caller enquiry, including a “call connect” 



service where the caller is connected directly to the advertiser upon request. CitySearch also 
provides fax-on-demand services through instant transmission of advertisers’ information to 
potential customers.

CitySearch received an average of 24,000 calls per month in FY2005.

Internet (“Click”)
Recognising the growing popularity of our on-
line directory search portal (www.yellowpages.
com.sg) and the Internet as a channel of 
communications, we boosted our focus on our 
on-line business strategy. Such initiative was 

centered on increasing the value of our IYP products and services to advertisers who historically 
advertise in our print directories. 

In line with our new focus, we revamped our IYP website in FY2005.  New features were 
added to enhance our user experience such as our improved search features which allow 
users to search by specific industry sub-classifications and locations.  We also completed and 
successfully launched our stand-alone Chinese-language IYP in March 2005.

The IYP segment has shown encouraging improvements. The portal registered strong usage 
with an average of 10.0 million page views and 3.9 million searches per month in FY2005. 

In addition to the IYP portal improvement, we have also developed a 
package of advertising solutions, including web page designing, to help 
SMEs set up an on-line presence. 

We have been able to increase our Internet advertising without 
cannibalising printed advertisements in our directories. We now have 
a special Internet sales team to canvass for sales solely for the Internet 
on a daily basis throughout the year. Our enhanced on-line strategy has 
allowed us to generate incremental revenue and cash flows without 
incurring significant costs. 

Other Products & Services

Singapore Infocomm Directory

The SID is a comprehensive directory of businesses that is sorted by subscribers‚ fax, telex, e-mail 
and website addresses.  The SID is a leading directory for office use that has advertisements 
on business products and services supported by editorial content.  The 2004/2005 SID has a 
circulation of approximately 40,000.
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Visitors’ Guide

Launched in 1993, the Visitors’ Guide is a travel guide providing editorial content in the form of 
information about Singapore and its attractions. It is formatted as a magazine and distributed 
free of charge to hotels, service apartments, visitors’ centres, travel agencies, convention centres 
and taxis.  The 2004/2005 Visitors’ Guide had a circulation of approximately 59,000.

Precision Marketing

We cater to corporate customers who require their databases to be edited and updated.   
Fees for Precision Marketing are determined on a project basis.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

We expect that our various growth initiatives started in FY2005 will be fully implemented soon. 
The door-to-door delivery of the Buying Guide and Commercial & Industrial Guide is scheduled 
to begin in August 2005. We envisage that it will take more than one canvass cycle for the full 
benefits, in terms of revenue improvement, from these initiatives to be fully realised.

For the current year, we will continue to leverage on our competitive advantages as the market 
leader with a strong brand name, and our strengths in advertising and marketing to 
increase our advertiser base. By strengthening our customer relationships and 
paying close attention to customer feedback, we aim to even better satisfy 
our advertisers’ needs and enhance our performance. 

Our focus on the Singapore market gives us considerable amount of 
visibility in the near term.  With a low 11% advertiser penetration 
rate in Singapore as compared to the higher penetration rates 
experienced in the more mature markets overseas, Singapore offers 
good opportunity for growth.

Currently, we have overseas operations in Malaysia, India and Brunei. We 
will continue our efforts to develop these market segments so as to achieve 
better profit contribution from each of these markets.

Looking ahead, we will continue to build on our established foundation 
that will see us to the next level of performance.



Directors’ Profi le
Goh Sik Ngee
Mr Goh joined us as Chief Executive Offi cer on 
17 November 2003. He brings with him approximately 
30 years of experience working in the public and the 
private sectors and has held various senior management 
positions, including as the Director of Manpower at the 
Ministry of Defence, Chairman of SAFE Enterprises Pte 
Ltd, and as the Chief Executive Offi cer of MediaCorp 
Publishing Pte Ltd.

Mr Goh holds a Master of Science Degree as well as 
a Bachelor of Engineering Degree (Honours) from the 
University of Singapore.

Mr Goh was conferred the following National Day Awards 
by the President of Singapore: Public Administration 
Medal (PPA) (Silver) in 1986, for his contributions in the 
civil service; and Public Service Medal (PBM) in 2003, for 
his contributions in community service. He was appointed 
our Director on 18 December 2003 and was appointed 
our Chairman on 29 October 2004.

Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo
Mr Foo is the Managing Director of ANZ Singapore Ltd 
and the General Manager of the Australia and New 
Zealand Banking Group Ltd, Singapore Branch. Mr 
Foo is also the Commissioner on the board of PT ANZ-
Panin Bank (Indonesia). He was a director of Schroders 
International Merchant Bankers Ltd. Previously, Mr Foo 
was the regional head and a director of Schroders’ 
investment banking arm for Southeast Asia. In addition, 
he is a former President Director of PT Schroders 
(Indonesia). Mr Foo is currently a council member of 
the Singapore Investment Banking Association and 
the Association of Banks in Singapore. Mr Foo holds 
a Bachelor of Business Administration from Concordia 
University and a Masters of Business Administration 
from McGill University. He was appointed our Director 
on 29 October 2004.

Christopher Wilfried Heine
Dr Heine is a Deputy Managing Director of CVC 
Asia Pacifi c Limited, responsible for Southeast Asia 
Investment. Prior to joining CVC Asia Pacifi c Limited 
in 1999, he was with Citigroup’s Asia private equity 
investment group focusing on Southeast Asia. He is 
currently a director of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited 
and Steniel Manufacturing. Dr Heine holds a Bachelor 
of Science (Honours) degree and PhD from Warwick 
University, England. He was appointed our Director on 
23 May 2003.

Richard Charles Helfer
Dr Helfer has been in the hotel and hospitality industry for 
over 30 years. In 1972, he joined Westin Hotels & Resorts 
and held various management positions at Westin in 
North America and Singapore. From 1989 to April 2003 
he was Founding Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer 
of Raffl es International Ltd., a hotel/resort management 
subsidiary of Raffles Holdings Ltd. (where he was 
concurrently President and Chief Executive Offi cer from 
1995 to April 2003). Dr Helfer is presently Chairman of 
RCH International Pte Ltd, a strategic tourism/hospitality 
organisation. He is also Strategic Development Advisor 

Zealand Banking Group Ltd, Singapore Branch. Mr 
Foo is also the Commissioner on the board of PT ANZ-
Panin Bank (Indonesia). He was a director of Schroders 
International Merchant Bankers Ltd. Previously, Mr Foo 
was the regional head and a director of Schroders’ 
investment banking arm for Southeast Asia. In addition, 
he is a former President Director of PT Schroders 
(Indonesia). Mr Foo is currently a council member of 
the Singapore Investment Banking Association and 
the Association of Banks in Singapore. Mr Foo holds 
a Bachelor of Business Administration from Concordia 
University and a Masters of Business Administration 
from McGill University. He was appointed our Director 

(Left to right)  Goh Sik Ngee, Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo, 
Christopher Wilfried Heine, Richard Charles Helfer, 
Stephen King Chang-Min and Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong.
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of Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd. Dr Helfer is a member 
of numerous global organisations such as the World 
Presidents Organization, Chief Executives Organization 
and an Honorary Member of the International Food and 
Beverage Forum.  He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree 
with honours in Hotel and Restaurant Management from 
Michigan State University, and a Doctorate in Business 
Administration in Hospitality Management from Johnson 
& Wales University, USA. He was appointed our Director 
on 29 October 2004.

Stephen King Chang-Min
Mr King is a Partner in the Hong Kong offi ce of J.P. 
Morgan Partners Asia LDC (‘’JPMP’’). He currently helps 
to oversee JPMP’s investment activities in Singapore and 
Australia. Mr King has over 15 years of private equity 
and investment banking experience in the U.S. and Asia. 
Mr King joined JPMP in 2001. Previously, he held 
numerous positions with J.P. Morgan & Co. including 
being co-head of J.P. Morgan Capital in Hong Kong 
and head of the Private Placements group in Asia. At J.P. 
Morgan & Co., he was a member of the Asian Investment 
Committee and the M&A valuation committee. Before 
joining J.P. Morgan & Co. in 1992, Mr King was a 

member of the Mergers & Acquisitions group of Merrill 
Lynch in New York. Mr King is currently a director of 
CV Consumer Services Ltd., ecVision International Inc., 
Metalform Asia Pte Ltd, Sanda Kan Industrial Company 
Ltd, Air International and Yellow Pages (Singapore) 
Limited. Mr King holds an AB in Economics with honours 
from Harvard University.  He was appointed our Director 
on 23 May 2003. 

Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong
Mrs Yeo is Managing Partner of Rodyk & Davidson, 
a full-service leading law firm in Singapore with 
offi ces also in Shanghai and Hong Kong.  She became 
Managing Partner of Rodyk & Davidson, when Helen 
Yeo & Partners, which was established by her in 1992, 
merged with Rodyk in 2002. Mrs Yeo obtained her LLB 
(Honours) degree from the University of Singapore in 
1974 and has since been in legal practice for more 
than 30 years. Her various appointments include that 
of Deputy Convenor of Banking, Financial & Business 
Services Committee of the Singapore International 
Chamber of Commerce, and member of Board of 
Advisors, Singapore Repertory Theatre. She was 
appointed our Director on 29 October 2004.



Key Executives’ Profile
Johnson Goh Swee Gim
Director, Marketing & Internet Yellow Pages
Mr Goh joined us in July 2002 as Deputy Director of 
Marketing and on 1 July 2004, was appointed as Director, 
Marketing & Internet Yellow Pages. Prior to this, he 
accumulated 11 years of experience working in various 
sales and marketing roles for Cipta Selera Murni Pte Ltd, 
Three Rifles International Pte Ltd, Media Corporation of 
Singapore and WayOnNet Group Pte Ltd.  Mr Goh holds 
a Masters degree in Business Administration from the 
University of Western Sydney, Nepean.

Francis Lim Cher Huat
Director, Sales
Mr Lim joined us in November 2001 as General 
Manager of Sales and was appointed as our Deputy 
Director of National Sales in July 2002. Prior to this, he 
accumulated 14 years of experience working in sales 
and marketing roles for Singapore Press Holdings Ltd, 
Asian Aviation Publications Pte Ltd, Dentsu (S) Pte Ltd, 
Atlantic Sports Pte Ltd, LA Sports Fashion Pte Ltd and 
Hornets Communications Asia Pte Ltd. Mr Lim holds a 
Bachelor of Science degree with honours in Business 
Management from the University of Bradford and on  
1 July 2004, he was appointed Director, Sales.

Richard Sim Kain Wee
Director, Telesales, Call Centre & Customer Management
Mr Sim joined us in September 1982. He was 
appointed Deputy Director of Telesales, Call Centre 
and Customer Management in January 2002 and on 
1 July 2004 appointed as Director in his present role.  
Prior to this, he was our Deputy Director of National 
Sales-Operations and Audiotex Services, Sales & 
Market Development. Mr Sim holds a Masters degree 
in Business Administration from the Charles Sturt 
University, Australia.

Alan Siow Yuen Wui
Director, Information Technology & Investor Relations
Mr Siow joined us in October 2000 as the Director of  
e-Business and assumed his current position of Director, 
Information Technology in July 2004. He was also 
appointed Director, Investor Relations in November 
2004. Prior to this, he accumulated nine years of 
experience working for the Infocomm Development 
Authority, the telecommunications regulatory authority 
in Singapore, and the National Computer Board, the 
information and technology policy and development 
board in Singapore. Mr Siow holds a Master of Science 
degree in Computer Sciences from the University of 
Wisconsin-Madison, USA and a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Computer Science (Honours) from the 
University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, USA.

Dennis Soh Lum Teng
Director, Human Resource & Corporate Services
Mr. Soh joined us on 11 April 2005.  With 22 years of 
regional business experience in Singapore, Hong Kong 
and China, he had held various senior executive 

(Left to right)

1. Melissa Wan May Wah  2. Francis Lim Cher Huat  
3. Alan Siow Yuen Wui  4. Richard Sim Kain Wee  
5. Goh Sik Ngee  6. Dennis Soh Lum Teng  7. Tan Hui Peng  
8. Johnson Goh Swee Gim
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positions at a U.S. Fortune 100 company as China 
Manager and Regional General Manager covering 
South East Asia and India as well as General Manager 
– South China at another U.S. MNC.

He holds a Bachelor of Engineering degree from the 
National University of Singapore and a Masters degree in 
Business Administration from the University of Virginia.

Tan Hui Peng
Director, Production
Ms Tan joined us in October 2000 as the Deputy 
Director of Marketing. She was appointed Deputy 
Director of Production in October 2001 and assumed 
her current position of Director, Production in February 
2002.  Prior to this, she spent 22 years working in the 
Line Plant Planning, Corporate Account Management, 
Sales Support and Human Resources departments of 
SingTel. Before joining SingTel, she accumulated four 
years’ experience working as a Research Officer with 
the Ministry of Defence. Ms Tan graduated from the 

University of Singapore with a Bachelor of Science 
degree with honours in Applied Chemistry.

Melissa Wan May Wah
Chief Financial Officer
Ms Wan was appointed as our Financial Controller 
in 1999 and on 1 July 2004 appointed as the Chief 
Financial Officer. Prior to this, she was Director of 
Financial Planning and Analysis at SingTel, which she 
joined in 1997. Before joining SingTel, she had 13 
years of experience at The Westin Hotels (now known 
as Starwood Resorts and Hotels) and an international 
accounting firm. She had previously held the position 
of Assistant Financial Controller at the Westin Hotels. 
She also serves as a Board member on our associated 
company in India, Integrated Databases India Ltd. Ms 
Wan is also one of our company secretaries. Ms Wan 
holds a Bachelor of Accountancy degree from the 
National University of Singapore. She is a Certified 
Public Accountant and a member of the Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.
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We are growing Internet Yellow Pages     to expand earning base

This statement describes the corporate governance practices 

and activities of the Company for the financial year ended 

31 March 2005.



Corporate Governance Statement

The Company’s corporate governance practices and activities in relation to each of the principles of the Code 
of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) are set out in the following segments, and deviations from the Code 
are explained.  

BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board is entrusted with the overall management of the business affairs of the Company, and sets the overall 
strategy and policies on the Group’s business direction. It reviews the Group’s financial performance and key 
operational initiatives and endorses the recommended framework of remuneration for the Board and key executives. 
The Board also assumes responsibility for corporate governance.

The Board meets at least four times a year. In addition to scheduled Board meetings, ad hoc meetings are 
convened as and when circumstances require. To facilitate the Board’s decision-making process, the Company’s 
Articles of Association provides for directors to participate in Board meetings by conference telephone and similar 
communications equipment, and for Board resolutions to be passed in writing, including by electronic means.

In the discharge of its functions, the Board is supported by specialty Board committees that provide independent 
oversight of management, and which also serve to ensure that there are appropriate checks and balances. These 
key committees, comprising the Audit Committee, the Nominations Committee and the Remuneration Committee, 
are made up entirely of non-executive directors. The number of Board and committee meetings held during the 
financial year ended 31 March 2005, and the attendance of members at such meetings, is set out on page 40 of 
the Annual Report.

The Board has put in place financial authorisation and approval limits for operating and capital budgets, procurement 
of goods and services, and cheque signatory arrangements. Approval sub-limits are also provided at management 
level to facilitate operational efficiency. The Board approves the Group’s quarterly and full-year financial results 
for release to the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and transactions of a material nature 
requiring announcement under the listing rules of the SGX-ST. 

Directors and senior executives are briefed on the Group’s operations and are routinely updated on developments 
and changes in the operating environment.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Balance

The Board has had six members since the Company’s listing in December 2004, consisting of the following five 
non-executive directors and one executive director:

Non-Executive Directors
Christopher Wilfried Heine (Non-independent)
Stephen King Chang-Min (Non-independent)
Richard Charles Helfer (Independent)
Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo (Independent)
Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong (Independent)

Executive Director
Goh Sik Ngee (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
 
The Board has adopted the definition in the Code of what constitutes an independent director in its review of the 
independence of each director.   The non-executive members of the Board comprise experienced professionals with 
management, financial, accounting and asset management backgrounds, of whom a majority are independent. 
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This enables the executive director and management to benefi t from their external and objective perspectives of 
issues that are brought before the Board.

The Board is of the view that its current composition comprises persons who, as a group, provides the necessary 
core competencies and that the current Board size is appropriate, taking into consideration the nature and scope 
of the Group’s operations.

Information on the Board members is provided under the section “Directors’ Profi le” in the Annual Report.

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer 

Mr Goh Sik Ngee served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer of the Company during the year. The 
Company believes in the separation of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer, and intends to separate 
the roles in the near term.  In the interim, the Company believes that it has effective non-executive directors (of 
whom a majority are independent) to provide balance within the workings of the Board and oversight for minority 
shareholders’ interests.

As part of his duties, the Chairman ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary and sets the Board 
meeting agenda. The Chairman reviews board papers on signifi cant issues before they are presented to the Board 
and ensures that Board members are provided with complete, adequate and timely information, and that proper 
procedures are observed. The Board, together with management, is responsible for ensuring compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. 

Principle 4: Board Membership 

The Nominations Committee makes recommendations to the Board on all board appointments. The Nominations 
Committee is guided by its Board-approved written terms of reference, and serves to ensure a formal and transparent 
process for the nomination of directors to the Board. The Nominations Committee also considers the independence 
criteria of the independent directors. 

The Nominations Committee is chaired by Dr Richard Charles Helfer and its other members are Dr Christopher 
Wilfried Heine and Mr Stephen King Chang-Min. Dr Richard Charles Helfer is the only independent member of the 
Nominations Committee, while the other two directors are considered to be non-independent, as a matter of market 
practice, by virtue of their representing the interests of some of the substantial shareholders on the Board. Aside 
from the above factor, they do not otherwise fall within the criteria for determining independence under Guidance 
Note 2.1 of the Code. Accordingly, the Company is of the view that this would not impact upon their ability to 
carry out their duties as members of the Nominations Committee in assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole and of individual directors and making recommendations for nominations to the Board.

In evaluating a director’s contribution and performance for the purpose of re-nomination, the Nominations 
Committee takes into consideration a variety of factors such as attendance, preparedness, participation and candour. 
Recommendations for nominations of new directors and retirement of directors are made by the Nominations 
Committee and considered by the Board as a whole. 

At each Annual General Meeting of the Company, not less than one-third of the directors for the time being 
(being those who have been longest in offi ce since their last appointment or re-election), and a director who, if 
he did not retire at that Annual General Meeting, would at the next Annual General Meeting have held offi ce for 
more than three years, are required to retire from offi ce by rotation. A retiring director is eligible for re-election 
by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. In addition, all newly appointed directors during the year will 
hold offi ce only until the next Annual General Meeting and will be eligible for re-election. In accordance with 
the guidelines set out in the Code, the Chief Executive Offi cer, being an executive director of the Company, is 
also subject to retirement by rotation. 
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Mr Stephen King Chang-Min is retiring by rotation and will be standing for re-election at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting. Dr Richard Charles Helfer, Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo and Mrs Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong, 
being directors appointed during the year, will also cease to hold office and will be standing for re-election at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting. The Nominations Committee, after assessing each of their contributions 
and performance, recommends Mr Stephen King Chang-Min, Dr Richard Charles Helfer, Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill 
Foo and Mrs Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Information 
on Mr Stephen King Chang-Min, Dr Richard Charles Helfer, Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo and Mrs Helen Yeo 
Cheng Hoong are provided under the section “Directors’ Profile” in the Annual Report.

The Nominations Committee is also charged with determining annually whether or not a director is independent, 
bearing in mind the circumstances set forth in the Code and any other salient factors.

Principle 5: Board Performance 

The Nominations Committee acknowledges the importance of a formal assessment of Board performance and 
desires to give careful consideration to the establishment of objective performance criteria by which the Board’s 
performance may be evaluated. The Nominations Committee intends to conduct an evaluation of the Board’s 
performance for the financial year ending 31 March 2006.

Principle 6: Access to Information 

Non-executive directors have access to the executive director, management and the company secretaries.  
Information provided includes background or explanatory information relating to matters to be brought before 
the Board, copies of disclosure documents, budgets, forecasts and financial statements. In respect of budgets, 
any material variance between the projections and actual results is also disclosed and explained. Board papers 
are sent to all directors in advance of the Board meeting. Senior managers who have prepared the papers, or 
who can provide additional insight on the matters to be discussed, are normally invited to present the paper or 
attend the Board meeting. The company secretaries attend Board meetings to take minutes. 

Where necessary, the Company will, upon the request of directors (whether as a group or individually), provide them 
with independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to enable them to discharge their duties. 

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 9: Disclosure of Remuneration 

Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mrs Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong and its other members are Dr Christopher 
Wilfried Heine and Mr Stephen King Chang-Min, all of whom are non-executive directors and independent of 
management. The Remuneration Committee is guided by its Board-approved written terms of reference.

The Remuneration Committee recommends to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Board and key 
executives, and determines the specific remuneration package for the Chief Executive Officer. The Remuneration 
Committee’s recommendations are submitted for endorsement by the entire Board. The Remuneration Committee 
covers all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, 
options and benefits in kind. 

Corporate Governance Statement
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The Remuneration Committee also administers the Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme. 

Remuneration Policy

The Company adopts an overall remuneration policy for staff comprising a fi xed component in the form of a 
base salary. The variable component is in the form of a bonus that is linked to the Company’s and the individual’s 
performance.

In determining the remuneration for the Chief Executive Offi cer and key executives, the Remuneration Committee 
takes into account the following principles:
a) the remuneration should motivate the executives to achieve the Company’s performance targets;
b) the performance-related elements of remuneration should form a signifi cant part of their total remuneration 
 package;
c) the interests of the executives should be aligned with shareholders; and
d) the remuneration is directly linked to the performance of the Group and individual performance.

The non-executive directors’ fees are set in accordance with a remuneration framework comprising basic retainer 
fees for each non-executive director, additional fees for the appointments to the various committees established by 
the Board and attendance fees for attendance at Board and committee meetings. Factors such as effort and time 
spent, and responsibilities of the directors, are taken into account. The Chairman receives a lump sum fee for his 
role as Chairman. Directors’ fees are subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. 

Disclosure on Remuneration

The breakdown of the remuneration of directors and key executives (who are not also directors) for the fi nancial 
year ended 31 March 2005 is as follows: 

Remuneration Band and  Fixed  Variable  Director’s Total 
Name of Director Component (1) Component (2) Benefi ts  Fees Compensation
 % % % % %         

$250,000 to $499,999
Goh Sik Ngee 74 19 - 7 100 

Below $250,000
Christopher Wilfried Heine - - - 100 100      
Stephen King Chang-Min - - - 100 100
Richard Charles Helfer(3) - - - 100 100      
Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo(3) - - - 100  100
Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong(3) - - - 100 100
James Andrew Smith(4) - 100 - - 100
Percy King a.k.a. Jin Bor-Shi(4)  - - - - -
Ming Lu(4) - - - - -
     
Remuneration Band and         
Name of Key Executive
          
Below $250,000
Goh Swee Gim 81 19 - - 100
Lim Cher Huat Francis 80 19 1 - 100
Sim Kain Wee 83 17 - - 100     
Siow Yuen Wui Alan 85 15 - - 100
Tan Hui Peng 81 19 - - 100  
Wan May Wah 78 22 - - 100  
Lourdes Anthony Emmanuel Joseph(5) 87 13 - - 100
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(1) Fixed Component refers to base salary earned and Annual Wage Supplement, if applicable, for the year ended 31 March 2005.
(2) Variable Component refers to variable bonus for the year ended 31 March 2005 except for Mr James Andrew Smith whose variable 

component refers to consultancy fees paid to him.
(3)  Appointed to the Board on 29 October 2004.
(4)  Resigned from the Board on 28 October 2004.
(5)  Resigned from the Company on 12 February 2005.

None of the employees of the Group whose annual remuneration exceeds $150,000 are immediate family members 
of the Chief Executive Officer or any other director of the Company.

Some details of the Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) are set out in the Directors’ Report to the 
audited accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2005. The Scheme provides an opportunity for eligible 
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries to participate in the equity of the Company. The following is 
additional information on the Scheme:
(a) The maximum size of the Scheme is 10% of the issued share capital of the Company.
(b) All options granted under the Scheme as at 31 March 2005 were granted at an exercise price of $1.66, being 

the offering price for the initial public offering of shares of the Company in Singapore. The Company currently 
does not have in place a methodology for valuing share options.

(c) All options granted under the Scheme as at 31 March 2005 may only be exercised during the period commencing 
on the day after the first anniversary of the date of grant and expiring on the tenth anniversary of the date of 
grant. The Committee has adopted the following vesting schedule in respect of such options:

Vesting Period    Proportion of Total Options that are exercisable
The day after the first anniversary of the date of grant …… 25 per cent. of grant
30 June 2006     ……………………………………………… 50 per cent. of grant
30 June 2007     ……………………………………………… 75 per cent. of grant
30 June 2008     ……………………………………………… 100 per cent. of grant

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10: Accountability

Principle 11: Audit Committee
 
Principle 12: Internal Controls 

Accountability

Management provides all members of the Board with accounts and reports on the Group’s financial performance 
and position on a quarterly basis. Although management does not provide reports on a monthly basis, all directors 
nevertheless have unrestricted access to the Group’s records and information through requests for further 
explanations, briefings and informal discussions on the Group’s operations or business issues from management. 

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee members are Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo (Chairman), Dr Richard Charles Helfer and Mrs Helen 
Yeo Cheng Hoong (all of whom are independent non-executive directors).  The Audit Committee’s scope of authority 
is formalised in its approved terms of reference, which include the statutory functions of an audit committee as 
prescribed under the Companies Act, Chapter 50, the Code and Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

The Audit Committee has authority to perform the functions specified within its terms of reference, and has full 
access to and co-operation of management, and full discretion to invite any executive director or executive officer 
to attend its meetings.  Reasonable resources have been made available to the Audit Committee to enable it to 
discharge its duties.

Corporate Governance Statement
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The activities of the Audit Committee include reviewing with external auditors their (i) annual audit plan, 
fi ndings, and recommendations to management as well as management’s response and (ii) audit report.  The 
Audit Committee also reviews the assistance given by management to the external auditors, the balance sheet 
and income statement of the Company and Group for the quarterly and full-year results prior to their submission 
to the Board, and (where applicable) interested person transactions.  The Audit Committee has undertaken a 
review of all non-audit services provided by the external auditors during the fi nancial year, and is of the view that 
they would not affect the independence of the external auditors.  The independence of the external auditors is 
reviewed annually.

The Audit Committee will meet with the external auditors, without the presence of management, at least once 
annually.

Internal Controls

The Group continually reviews and improves its business and operational activities to identify areas of signifi cant 
business risk as well as take appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. These include the 
implementation of safety, security and internal control measures and taking up appropriate insurance coverage.  The 
Group’s fi nancial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of the unpredictability 
of fi nancial markets on the Group’s fi nancial performance.  The fi nancial risk management policies are outlined 
in Note 28 of the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Key internal controls of the Group include:
- Establishment of policies and approval limits for key fi nancial and operational matters, and the rules relating 

to the delegation of authorities;
- Documentation of key processes and procedures;  
- Segregation of incompatible functions which give rise to a risk of errors or irregularities not being promptly 

detected;
- Safeguarding of assets;
- Maintenance of proper accounting records;
- Ensuring reliability of fi nancial information; 
- Ensuring compliance with appropriate legislation and regulations; and
- Having qualifi ed and experienced persons take charge of important functions.

The Board is not aware of any material inadequacy in the overall internal controls and processes currently in place.

Principle 13: Internal Audit 

The Board recognises and is responsible for maintaining a system of internal control processes to safeguard 
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s business and assets. The effectiveness of the internal fi nancial control 
systems and procedures is monitored by the Audit Committee.

As the Company was only listed on 9 December 2004, the internal audit function has not yet been established.  
The Company intends to review and establish the internal control function during the fi nancial year ending 31 
March 2006. 

The Board is of the view that there is adequate accountability and transparency as refl ected by the internal 
controls established within the Group.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders

Principle 15: Encouraging Greater Shareholder Participation

The Company communicates information to shareholders and the investing community through announcements 
that are released to the SGX-ST via SGXNET.  Such announcements include the quarterly and full-year results, 
material transactions, and other developments relating to the Group requiring disclosure under the corporate 
disclosure policy of the SGX-ST. 

All shareholders of the Company are sent a copy of the Annual Report and notice of the Annual General 
Meeting. The notice of Annual General Meeting, which sets out all items of business to be transacted at  
the Annual General Meeting, is also advertised in the newspapers. The Company also maintains a website at  
www.yellowpages.com.sg where the public can access information on the Group.

The Company’s main forum for dialogue with shareholders takes place at its Annual General Meeting, whereat 
members of the Board, senior management and the external auditors are in attendance. At the Annual General 
Meeting, shareholders will be given the opportunity to air their views and ask questions regarding the Company. 
The Company’s Articles of Association allow a shareholder to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote at 
general meetings in his/her stead. 

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted the principles and best practices on dealings in securities as contained in the Best 
Practices Guide issued by the SGX-ST. Directors and staff are to refrain from dealing in the securities of the 
Company during the periods commencing two weeks before and up to the date of announcement of the 
Company’s quarterly results and one month before and up to the date of announcement of the Company’s full-
year results, or while in possession of material price sensitive non-public information. 

Board and Committee Meetings held during the Financial Year ended 31 March 2005

  Audit Nominations Remuneration
 Board Committee Committee Committee

 No. of  No. of No. of No. of
 Meetings: 11 Meetings: 3 Meetings: Nil* Meetings: 1

 Attendance Attendance Attendance Attendance

Goh Sik Ngee 10 N.A. N.A. N.A.  
Christopher Wilfried Heine 9 N.A. - 1
Stephen King Chang-Min 9 N.A. - 0
Richard Charles Helfer 3 2 - N.A.
Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo 5 3 N.A. N.A.
Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong 6 3 N.A. 1

*  The first Nominations Committee Meeting was held after the close of the financial year ended 31 March 2005. 

Corporate Governance Statement
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Directors’ Report
For the financial year ended 31 March 2005

The directors present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group for 
the financial year ended 31 March 2005 and the balance sheet of the Company at 31 March 2005.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are :  

Goh Sik Ngee     
Christopher Wilfried Heine   
Stephen King Chang-Min   
Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo  (Appointed on 29 October 2004)
Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong   (Appointed on 29 October 2004)
Richard Charles Helfer   (Appointed on 29 October 2004)

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose 
object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, 
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, other than as disclosed under “Yellow Pages Share 
Option Scheme” on pages 43 to 44.

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures 

a) According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of the directors holding office at the 
end of the financial year in the share capital or debentures of the Company and related corporations were 
as follows :

   Holdings registered in name Holdings in which a director is
   of director or nominee deemed to have an interest
     
    At  At
    1.4.2004  1.4.2004 
    or date of  or date of
   At appointment, At appointment,
   31.3.2005 if later 31.3.2005 if later
The Company     
(Ordinary shares of S$0.05 each)    
     
Goh Sik Ngee  351,142 - - -
Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo   30,000 - - -
Richard Charles Helfer   15,000 - - -
Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong   30,000 - 30,000 -

Asia Directory S.à r.l*     
(Ordinary shares of EUR 25 each)     
     
Goh Sik Ngee - 120 - -

* The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding corporation prior to its listing on 9 December 2004.
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b) According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of the directors holding offi ce at the end 
of the fi nancial year in the options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company granted pursuant to the 
Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme are set out below and in the paragraphs on “Yellow Pages Share Option 
Scheme”.

  Number of unissued ordinary shares of
  S$0.05 each under option held by director

    At
   1.4.2004
   or date of
  At grant,
  31.3.2005 if later
Options Exchange*  
Goh Sik Ngee 697,436 697,436

*  See paragraphs on “Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme”

c) The directors’ interests in the shares and convertible securities of the Company at 21 April 2005 were the 
same as those as at 31 March 2005. 

Directors’ contractual benefi ts

Since the end of the previous fi nancial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefi t by 
reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a fi rm of which 
he is a member or with a company in which he has a substantial fi nancial interest, except as disclosed in the 
fi nancial statements and this report.

Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme

The Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) for employees (including executive directors) and non-
executive directors of the Group was adopted by the shareholders of the Company on 29 October 2004.  The 
Scheme shall remain in force for a maximum of 10 years unless extended.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for administering the Scheme.  As at the date of this report, the 
Committee members are Mrs Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong (Chairman), Dr Christopher Wilfried Heine and Mr Stephen 
King Chang-Min.

Under the Scheme, share options are granted to employees of the Company or its subsidiaries (including executive 
directors) with at least 1 year of service prior to the date of grant and to non-executive directors of the Group 
at the absolute discretion of the Remuneration Committee.  The exercise price of the granted options can be 
equal to, higher than or set at a discount to the average of the closing prices of the Company’s ordinary shares 
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the fi ve market days immediately preceding the date 
of grant (“Market Price”).  The discount granted shall not exceed 20% of the Market Price.

The vesting of granted options is conditional on the Group achieving its targets of profi tability and subject to 
individual performance of the participant.  The options are exercisable, upon vesting, for varying contractual 
option terms of up to ten years after the date of grant.  The options may be exercised in full or in part in respect 
of 1,000 shares or a multiple thereof, on the payment of the exercise price.  The persons to whom the options 
have been issued have no right to participate by virtue of the options in any share issue of any other company.  
The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

Directors’ Report
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2005



No option has been granted under the Scheme except for the options granted (“Options Exchange”) in place 
of the outstanding and unexercised share options granted by Asia Directory S.à r.l in respect of the shares in 
Asia Directory S.à r.l held by some members of the management, which were terminated on the date of the 
Company’s listing on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited on 9 December 2004 
(“Listing Date”).  Asia Directory S.à r.l was the Company’s immediate and ultimate holding corporation prior to 
the Listing Date.

Options to subscribe for a total of 1,264,103 ordinary shares of S$0.05 each with an exercise price of S$1.66 
per ordinary share (the offering price at the Company’s Initial Public Offering) were granted pursuant to the 
Options Exchange on 9 December 2004 of which 697,436 options were granted to an executive director of the 
Company, as follows :  

Name of director

Options granted for 
financial year ended 

31.3.2005

Aggregate options 
granted since 

commencement
of Scheme to 

31.3.2005

Aggregate options 
exercised since 

commencement     
of Scheme to 

31.3.2005

Aggregate options 
outstanding as at 

31.3.2005

Goh Sik Ngee 697,436 697,436 - 697,436

These options are exercisable for a period of 10 years after the date of grant, subject to the following vesting 
schedule:

Vesting Period
Proportion of total share 

options that are exercisable

The day after the first anniversary of the date of grant 25% of grant
30 June 2006 50% of grant
30 June 2007 75% of grant
30 June 2008 100% of grant

No option has been granted to controlling shareholders of the Company or their associates.

No key management or employee has received 5% or more of the total number of options available under the 
Scheme during the financial year.  No director or employee of the Company and its subsidiaries has received 
5% or more of the total number of options available to all directors and employees of the Company and its 
subsidiaries under the Scheme during the financial year. 

No option has been granted at a discount during the financial year.

During the financial year, no shares of the Company have been allotted and issued by virtue of the exercise of 
options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any subsidiary.

Share options outstanding

The options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company outstanding at the end of the financial year are as follows :

Options relating to Yellow Pages
Share Option Scheme

Number outstanding at 
31.3.2005

Exercise
price

Exercise
period

Options Exchange 1,264,103 S$1.66 10.12.2005 – 8.12.2014

Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme (continued)

Directors’ Report
For the financial year ended 31 March 2005
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Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee members are Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo (Chairman), 
Dr Richard Charles Helfer and Mrs Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong (all of whom are independent non-executive directors).  
The Audit Committee’s scope of authority is formalised in its approved terms of reference, which include the statutory 
functions of an Audit Committee as prescribed under the Companies Act, Chapter 50, the Code of Corporate 
Governance and Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

The Audit Committee has authority to perform the functions specifi ed within its terms of reference, and has 
full access to and co-operation of management, and full discretion to invite any executive director or executive 
offi cer to attend its meetings.  Reasonable resources have been made available to the Audit Committee to enable 
it to discharge its duties.

The activities of the Audit Committee include reviewing with external auditors their (i) annual audit plan, 
fi ndings, and recommendations to management as well as management’s response and (ii) audit report.  The 
Audit Committee also reviews the assistance given by management to the external auditors, the balance sheet 
and income statement of the Company and Group for the quarterly and full-year results prior to their submission 
to the Board, and (where applicable) interested person transactions.  The Audit Committee has undertaken a 
review of all non-audit services provided by the external auditors during the fi nancial year, and is of the view that 
they would not affect the independence of the external auditors.  The independence of the external auditors 
is reviewed annually.

The Audit Committee will meet with the external auditors, without the presence of management, at least 
once annually.

The Audit Committee is satisfi ed with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has 
recommended to the Board of Directors that the external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, be nominated for 
re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Auditors
 
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

GOH SIK NGEE
Chairman

23 June 2005

FOO SAY MUI a.k.a. BILL FOO 
Director 

Directors’ Report
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2005



In the opinion of the directors, 

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 
48 to 83 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the 
Group at 31 March 2005 and of the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group 
for the financial year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the directors

GOH SIK NGEE
Chairman
 
23 June 2005

FOO SAY MUI a.k.a. BILL FOO 
Director 

Statement by Directors
For the financial year ended 31 March 2005
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We have audited the fi nancial statements of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited set out on pages 48 to 83 for 
the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2005, comprising the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated 
fi nancial statements of the Group.  These fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s directors.  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those Standards require that we 
plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements are free of material 
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the fi nancial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi cant 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement presentation.  We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion,

(a) the accompanying balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group 
are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Cap 50 (“the Act”) and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2005, and the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the 
Group for the fi nancial year ended on that date; and

 
(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept 

in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certifi ed Public Accountants

Singapore, 23 June 2005

Auditors’ Report
To the Members of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited



The Group

Notes 2005
23.5.2003* to

31.3.2004

$ $

Operating revenue 3 61,316,966 54,516,194

Other operating income 3 912,690 626,191

Printing and material costs (8,995,635) (7,295,523)

Staff costs 4 (15,117,083) (12,993,843)

Depreciation 5 (1,748,076) (922,278)

Amortisation 5 (763,502) (192,861)

Other operating expenses** (6,889,917) (9,461,618)

Total operating expenses (33,514,213) (30,866,123)

Profit from operations 5 28,715,443 24,276,262

Finance income 6(a) 1,222,548 -

Finance expense 6(b) (16,249,753) (11,301,775)

Share of results of associated companies before tax 19 (890,507) 1,040,341

Profit before tax 12,797,731 14,014,828

Income tax expense 7(a) (2,515,857) (2,907,674)

Net profit for the financial year/period 10,281,874 11,107,154

Earnings per share 8

 - Basic 8.72 cents 11.11 cents

 - Diluted 8.71 cents 11.11 cents

*  Date of incorporation of the Company
** Included in other operating expenses are selling and administrative expenses of $4,844,352 (2004: $7,723,344).

Consolidated Income Statement
For the financial year ended 31 March 2005

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ Report - Page 47
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The Group The Company
Notes 2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 36,622,170 11,359,202 36,173,740 10,715,287
Trade and other receivables 10 18,622,117 24,796,406 17,706,011 24,025,123
Inventories 11 6,980,688 5,977,294 6,083,389 5,536,536
Other current assets 12 710,030 473,164 616,102 302,218
Due from subsidiaries 13(a) - - 1,266,480 1,771,165
Due from an associated company 14(a) 13,072 31,158 2,773 9,608

62,948,077 42,637,224 61,848,495 42,359,937

Non-current assets
Other receivables 15 5,840 20,924 5,840 18,907
Other non-current assets 17 172,477 172,941 147,733 147,733
Due from a subsidiary 13(b) - - 1,199,708 1,355,646
Investment in a subsidiary 18 - - 357,938 357,938
Investments in associated 
  companies 19 1,835,803 2,598,960 1,954,809 1,954,809
Property, plant and equipment 20 20,719,956 21,906,686 18,912,939 20,007,878
Intangible assets 21 174,308,156 175,071,658 173,555,375 174,318,877
Deferred income tax assets 7(c) 1,635,167 344,199 1,109,117 344,199

198,677,399 200,115,368 197,243,459 198,505,987

Total assets 261,625,476 242,752,592 259,091,954 240,865,924

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 5,446,495 6,008,955 5,074,001 5,612,790
Advance receipts and billings 4,655,611  3,525,787 3,769,353 3,428,205
Due to associated companies 14(b) 2,698 - 201 -
Borrowings 23 - 19,008,330 - 19,008,330
Current income tax liabilities 7(b) 4,210,714 2,995,026 4,169,633 2,957,738

14,315,518 31,538,098 13,013,188 31,007,063

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 23 129,231,094 189,438,440 129,231,094 189,438,440
Interest payable to previous holding 

corporation - 5,666,121 - 5,666,121
129,231,094 195,104,561 129,231,094 195,104,561

Total liabilities 143,546,612 226,642,659 142,244,282 226,111,624

Net assets 118,078,864 16,109,933 116,847,672 14,754,300

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 24 7,903,250 5,000,000 7,903,250 5,000,000
Share premium 88,785,219 - 88,785,219 -
Retained earnings 25 21,389,028 11,107,154 20,159,203 9,754,300
Translation reserve 1,367 2,779 - -

118,078,864 16,109,933 116,847,672 14,754,300

Balance Sheets
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2005

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
Auditors’ Report - Page 47



Notes
Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings

Translation 
reserve Total

$ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 April 2004  5,000,000 - 11,107,154 2,779 16,109,933

Net loss recognised directly  
in equity

- Currency translation differences - - - (1,412) (1,412)

Net profit for the financial year - - 10,281,874 - 10,281,874

Total gain/(loss) recognised 
  for the financial year - - 10,281,874 (1,412) 10,280,462

Issue of share capital 24   2,903,250 93,484,650 - - 96,387,900

Expenses of share issue* - (4,699,431) - - (4,699,431)

Balance at 31 March 2005   7,903,250 88,785,219 21,389,028 1,367 118,078,864

Balance at 23 May 2003 
  (date of incorporation) 2 - - - 2

Net gain recognised directly 
  in equity
- Currency translation differences - - - 2,779 2,779

Net profit for the financial period - - 11,107,154 - 11,107,154

Total gain recognised for the 
  financial period - - 11,107,154 2,779 11,109,933

Issue of share capital 24 4,999,998 - - - 4,999,998

Balance at 31 March 2004  5,000,000 - 11,107,154 2,779 16,109,933

* A total of $620,000 was paid to the auditors of the Company for non-audit services comprising the review of interim financial 
information and as reporting auditor in respect of the Company’s Initial Public Offering, of which $322,400 was borne by the 
Company and is included herein.  The balance was borne by the previous holding corporation, Asia Directory S.à r.l, in relation to 
the sale of vendor shares.

Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity
For the financial year ended 31 March 2005

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ Report - Page 47
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The Group

Notes 2005
23.5.2003* to 

31.3.2004
$ $

Cash fl ows from operating activities
Profi t before tax 12,797,731 14,014,828
Adjustments for :
  Share of results of associated companies 890,507 (1,040,341)
  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5 1,748,076 922,278
  Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 844 -
  Amortisation of intangible assets 5 763,502 192,861
  Amortisation of deferred fi nancing costs 6(b) 5,538,641 1,307,733
  Gain from termination of interest rate swap 6(a) (1,100,000) -
  Interest income 6(a) (122,548) -
  Interest expense 6(b) 10,630,023 9,908,741
  Exchange differences 36,201 54,468
Operating cash fl ows before working capital changes 31,182,977 25,360,568

Change in operating assets and liabilities
  Inventories (1,003,394) 5,263,551
  Receivables 6,016,737 1,221,492
  Advance receipts and billings 1,129,824 (981,933)
  Payables (563,617) (840,462)
Cash generated from operations 36,762,527 30,023,216

Income tax paid 7(b) (2,888,996) (10,209)
Interest paid - (44,549)
Net cash infl ow from operating activities 33,873,531 29,968,458

Cash fl ows from investing activities
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired - (225,123,320)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (600,576) (1,567,003)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3,464 -
Interest received 78,902 -
Dividends received from an associated company 19 177,279 111,195
Net cash outfl ow from investing activities (340,931) (226,579,128)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
Proceeds from bank term loan - 140,000,000
Repayment of bank term loan (130,900,000) (9,100,000)
Proceeds from termination of interest rate swap 1,100,000 -
Payment for deferred fi nancing costs 23(d) (854,317) (6,760,963)
Interest paid (16,295,923) (4,169,165)
(Repayment of)/proceeds from loan from previous 

holding corporation (83,000,000) 83,000,000
Proceeds from issue of bonds 130,000,000 -
Net proceeds from issue of shares 91,688,469 5,000,000
Net cash (outfl ow)/infl ow from fi nancing activities (8,261,771) 207,969,872

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 25,270,829 11,359,202
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the fi nancial year/period 9 11,359,202 -
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (7,861) -

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the fi nancial year/period 9 36,622,170 11,359,202

*  Date of incorporation of the Company

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2005

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 

1. General

 Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited, formerly known as Yellow Pages (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., (the “Company”) is 
incorporated and domiciled in Singapore and is publicly traded on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (“SGX-ST”).  The address of its registered office is 1 Lorong 2 Toa Payoh, Yellow Pages Building, 
Singapore 319637.

 On 29 October 2004, the Company converted from a private company to a public company and changed 
its name from Yellow Pages (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. to Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited.  This was done in 
contemplation of the Initial Public Offering of the Company’s ordinary shares.  On 9 December 2004, the 
Company was listed on the Main Board of the SGX-ST.

 The principal activities of the Company and the Group consist of the publication of Singapore telephone and 
other directories, selling of advertising space in Singapore and certain overseas classified directories, and the 
provision of electronic based information and call centre related services.  

2. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(“FRS”).  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the financial 
year.  Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, 
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.

(b) Revenue recognition

 Revenue comprises the fair value of services rendered, net of goods and services tax, rebates and discounts 
and after eliminating sales within the Group.  When revenue is recognised before customers are invoiced, 
unbilled receivables are recognised as part of the trade receivables.

 Revenue from the sale of advertising space in printed directories is recognised in the month of distribution 
to users as there are no further customer obligations to be fulfilled by the Group after distribution. All direct 
and incremental costs, including printing and publishing costs incurred in the production of printed directories 
are deferred and recognised as expenses in the income statement in the month of distribution.

 Revenue and costs from the sale of advertising space on the Internet directory and operator-assisted telephone 
search service are recognised rateably over the contracted advertising period.  

 Revenue earned from the provision of other advertising related services is recognised when the service is 
rendered.  Revenue from the sale of directories is recognised at the time of delivery.

 Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Interest income is recognised on a 
time proportion basis, using the effective interest rate method.  Dividend income is recognised when the right 
to receive payment is established.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2005
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(c) Group accounting

(1)  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.  The existence and 
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the Group controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries.  The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred 
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  Identifi able assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values on the 
date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.  Please refer to note 2(e) for the 
accounting policy on goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group to the date on 
which that control ceases.  In preparing the consolidated fi nancial statements, intercompany transactions, 
balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated; unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless cost cannot be recovered.  Where necessary, adjustments are made to the fi nancial 
statements of subsidiaries to ensure consistency of accounting policies with those of the Group.

Please refer to note 2(f) for the Company’s accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries.

 (2) Associated companies

Associated companies are entities over which the Group has signifi cant infl uence, but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between and including 20% and 50% of the voting rights.  Investments 
in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated fi nancial statements using the equity 
method of accounting.  Investments in associated companies in the consolidated balance sheet include 
goodwill identifi ed on acquisition, where applicable.  Please refer to note 2(e) for the Group’s accounting 
policy on goodwill.

Equity accounting involves recording investments in associated companies initially at cost, and recognising the 
Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-acquisition results and its share of post-acquisition movements 
in reserves against the carrying amount of the investments.  When the Group’s share of losses in an associated 
company equals or exceeds its investment in the associated company, the Group does not recognise further 
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associated company.

In applying the equity method, unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated 
companies are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies.  Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.  
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the fi nancial statements of associated companies to ensure 
consistency of accounting policies with those of the Group.

Please refer to note 2(f) for the Company’s accounting policy on investments in associated companies.

 (3) Transaction costs

Costs directly attributable to an acquisition are included as part of the cost of acquisition.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2005
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(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses (note 2(g)).

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment over 
their estimated useful lives.  The estimated useful lives are as follows :

Freehold and leasehold property -  15 - 30 years
Office equipment and furniture -  5 years
Computer equipment -  3 - 5 years
Fittings and fixtures -  5 years
Motor vehicles -  5 years

Assets which cost less than $1,000 per item are charged to income statement in the year of purchase.  Fully 
depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use.

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is 
added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of 
the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the Group and the cost can 
be reliably measured.  Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense during the financial year 
in which it is incurred.  

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing net disposal 
proceeds with carrying amounts and are included in the income statement.

(e) Intangible assets

(1) Goodwill 

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition of subsidiaries and 
associated companies over the fair value of the Group’s share of their identifiable net assets at the date 
of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on business acquisition represents the excess of the consideration paid on business 
acquisition over the fair value of the Company’s share of the acquired business’s identifiable net assets at 
the date of acquisition.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment based on the provisions contained in revised FRS 36 Impairment 
of Assets (“FRS 36”) and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses (note 2(g)). Gains and losses 
on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

(2) Intellectual property assets

The fair value of the intellectual property assets acquired through business acquisition is separately identified 
and capitalised as intangible assets.

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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Intellectual property assets that have defi nite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses (note 2(g)).  Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to 
allocate the cost of intellectual property assets over their estimated useful lives, which are currently estimated 
at between one and a half and twenty years. 

Intellectual property assets that have indefi nite useful lives are tested annually for impairment based on the 
provisions contained in FRS 36 and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses (note 2(g)).

(f) Investments

Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses 
(note 2(g)) in the Company’s balance sheet.  Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of 
the investment is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount.
 
On disposal of an investment, including subsidiaries and associated companies, the difference between net 
disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is taken to the income statement.

(g) Impairment of assets

Goodwill and intellectual property assets with indefi nite useful lives are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment.  Other assets including property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets, are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are separately 
identifi able cash fl ows (cash-generating units). 

(h) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are stated at original invoice amount less allowance for doubtful receivables based on a review 
of outstanding amounts at balance sheet date. An allowance for doubtful receivables is made when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to original terms of 
receivables.  Bad debts are written off when identifi ed.

(i) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised as the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
value is taken to the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

(j) Financial instruments

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Forward foreign exchange contracts are used to hedge the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risks.  The 
notional principal amounts of the forward foreign exchange contracts are recorded as off-balance sheet items.  

2. Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Intangible assets (continued)

(2) Intellectual property assets (continued)
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The contracted rates of the forward foreign exchange contracts are used to translate the hedged foreign 
currency monetary assets and liabilities.  The fair value of the forward foreign exchange contracts are not 
recognised in the financial statements. 

(k) Operating Leases

(1) When a group company is the lessee :

Leases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor 
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessor) are taken to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period expired, any payment required to be made to 
the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

(2) When a group company is the lessor :

Rental income (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(l) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined on the weighted average cost basis, and net realisable 
value.  Cost includes transport and handling costs.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less selling expenses.

Raw materials consist of roll and paper sheets for directories.

Directories in progress comprise all direct and incremental costs incurred in the production of printed directories. 
For proper matching of costs with revenue, such costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement 
together with printing and material costs in the month of distribution to users.

(m) Deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  However, if the deferred 
income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination 
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for.  
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted 
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associated 
companies, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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(n) Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
it is probable that an outfl ow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of 
the amount can be made.  

(o) Employee benefi ts

(1) Defi ned contribution plans 

Defi ned contribution plans are post-employment benefi t plans under which the Group pays fi xed 
contributions into separate entities such as Central Provident Fund, and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further contributions if any of the funds does not hold suffi cient assets to pay all employee 
benefi ts relating to employee service in the current and preceding fi nancial years.  The Group’s contribution 
to defi ned contribution plans are recognised in the fi nancial year to which they relate.

(2) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the 
balance sheet date.

(3) Equity compensation benefi ts

No compensation expense is recognised when share options are issued under the Yellow Pages Share 
Option Scheme.  When the options are exercised, the proceeds received net of any transaction costs are 
taken to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

(p) Foreign currency translation

(1) Measurement currency

Items included in the fi nancial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency that 
best refl ects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity 
(“the measurement currency”).  The consolidated fi nancial statements and balance sheet of the Company 
are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the measurement currency of the Company. 

(2) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the measurement currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of transactions.  Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated into 
the measurement currency at the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date or at contracted 
rates where they are covered by forward exchange contracts.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation of the monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the income statement. 

2. Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)
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(3) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

The results and financial position of group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that are in measurement currencies other than Singapore Dollars are translated into Singapore 
Dollars as follows :

(i) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of 
that balance sheet;

(ii) Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless 
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing 
on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the 
transactions); and

(iii) All resulting exchange differences are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign 
entities (including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), 
and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken 
to shareholders’ equity.  When a foreign operation is disposed of, such exchange differences are taken to 
the income statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as non-monetary 
foreign currency assets and liabilities of the acquirer and recorded at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction.

(q) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits with financial institutions.

(r) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new equity instruments, other than for the acquisition 
of businesses, are taken to equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issuance of new equity instruments for the acquisition of businesses are included in the 
cost of acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.

(s) Dividend

Interim dividends are recorded during the financial year in which they are declared payable.  Final dividends 
are recorded during the financial year in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders.

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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3. Operating income

The Group
23.5.2003 to

2005 31.3.2004
$ $

Revenue from sale of advertising space 60,439,666 53,576,500
Revenue from the provision of advertising related services 274,405 395,577
Revenue from sale of directories 62,348 22,750
Revenue from call centre related services 540,547 521,367
Operating revenue 61,316,966 54,516,194

Rental income 816,136 621,497
Other income 96,554 4,694
Other operating income 912,690 626,191

62,229,656 55,142,385

4. Staff costs

The Group
23.5.2003 to

2005 31.3.2004
$ $

Salaries and wages 13,351,830 11,492,512
Employer’s contribution to defi ned contribution plans 

including Central Provident Fund 1,303,258 1,208,720
Other benefi ts 264,425 221,066
Termination benefi ts 197,570 71,545

15,117,083 12,993,843

Key management remuneration is disclosed in note 31(a).  The number of persons employed by the Group at 
the end of fi nancial year is 306 (2004: 329).
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5. Profit from operations

 The following items have been included in arriving at profit from operations :

The Group
23.5.2003 to

2005 31.3.2004
$ $

Charging :
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 20) :
  - Freehold property 85,177 65,575
  - Leasehold property 692,938 519,181
  - Office equipment and furniture 53,496 39,310
  - Computer equipment 856,530 259,059
  - Fittings and fixtures 59,935 39,153

1,748,076 922,278

Amortisation charge of intellectual property assets (note 21) 763,502 192,861

Auditors’ remuneration paid/payable to :
  - auditors of the Company 86,500 60,000
  - over-provision in prior year (2,000) -

84,500 60,000
  - other auditors* 14,282 11,944

98,782 71,944

Other fees paid/payable to auditors of the Company 95,900 58,200
Rental expense – operating lease 302,320 301,314
Foreign exchange loss (net) 58,548 115,592

* Include PricewaterhouseCoopers firms outside Singapore

6. Finance income/expense

The Group 
23.5.2003 to

2005 31.3.2004
$ $

(a) Finance income

Interest income 122,548 -
Gain from termination of interest rate swap 1,100,000 -

1,222,548 -

(b) Finance expense

Interest expense :
- Bonds (note 23) 2,734,614 -
- Bank term loan (note 23) 2,363,299 4,242,620
- Loan from previous holding corporation (note 23) 5,532,110 5,666,121

10,630,023 9,908,741
Amortisation of deferred financing costs (note 23) :
- Bonds 85,411 -
- Bank term loan 5,453,230 1,307,733

5,538,641 1,307,733

Bank facilities charges 81,089 85,301

16,249,753 11,301,775
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7. Income taxes

(a) Income tax expense

The Group
23.5.2003 to

2005 31.3.2004
$ $

Income tax expense attributable to profi t is made up of :
Current income tax 
- Singapore 4,086,233 2,957,737
- Foreign 19,128 9,141

4,105,361 2,966,878
Deferred income tax (1,290,968) (344,199)
Share of tax of associated companies (note 19) (298,536) 284,995

2,515,857 2,907,674

The income tax expense on profi t differs from the amount that would arise using the Singapore standard rate 
of income tax due to the following :

The Group
23.5.2003 to

2005 31.3.2004
$ $

Profi t before tax 12,797,731 14,014,828

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 20% (2004: 20%) 2,559,546 2,802,966
Effect of different tax rates in other countries (152,424) 119,392
Effect of concessionary tax rate on certain income (805) -
Singapore statutory stepped income exemption (10,500) (10,500)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,520,618 638,088
Income not subject to tax (838,854) (559,600)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised : 
- tax losses (12,252) (77,688)
- capital allowances (30,869) (4,984)
Recognition of previously unrecognised :
- tax losses (272,969) -
- temporary differences (245,634) -

Tax charge 2,515,857 2,907,674

(b) Movements in current income tax liabilities

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

At beginning of fi nancial year/period 2,995,026 - 2,957,738 -
Income tax paid (2,888,996) (10,209) (2,874,338) -
Current fi nancial year’s/period’s tax expense 

on profi t 4,105,361 2,966,878 4,086,233 2,957,738
Acquired through business acquisition - 39,630 - -
Exchange differences (677) (1,273) - -

At end of fi nancial year/period 4,210,714 2,995,026 4,169,633 2,957,738
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7. Income taxes (continued)

(c) Deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal 
authority.  The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the balance sheet.

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Deferred tax assets (1,635,167) (344,199) (1,109,117) (344,199)

The deferred income tax assets to be recovered within 12 months for the Group and the Company approximate 
$495,000 (2004: Nil) and $495,000 (2004: Nil) respectively.

Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a principal 
tax rate of 20% (2004: 20%).  The movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows :

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

At beginning of financial year/period (344,199) - (344,199) -
Tax credited to income statement (1,290,968) (344,199) (764,918) (344,199)

At end of financial year/period (1,635,167) (344,199) (1,109,117) (344,199)
 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that realisation of the 
related tax benefits through future taxable profits is probable.  During the financial year ended 31 March 2005, 
the Group recognised the deferred tax assets arising from the accumulated deductible temporary differences 
of approximately $1,200,000 comprising $1,170,000 of allowance for doubtful debts and $30,000 of capital 
allowances (2004: $1,400,000 comprising $1,260,000 of allowance for doubtful debts and $140,000 of capital 
allowances) and un-utilised tax losses amounting to approximately $1,400,000 (2004: $1,400,000) of two of 
its subsidiaries in Malaysia.  Both accumulated deductible temporary differences and un-utilised tax losses have 
no expiry dates.

The movement in the deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same tax 
jurisdiction) is as follows :

The Group

Deferred income tax liabilities
Accelerated 

tax
depreciation

$

At 1 April 2004 419,256
Credited to income statement (57,395)

At 31 March 2005 361,861

At 23 May 2003 -
Charged to income statement 419,256

At 31 March 2004 419,256
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The Group

Deferred income tax assets
Allowance 

for doubtful 
receivables Tax losses Total

$ $ $

At 1 April 2004 (763,455) - (763,455)
Credited to income statement (945,179) (288,394) (1,233,573)

At 31 March 2005 (1,708,634) (288,394) (1,997,028)

At 23 May 2003 - - -
Credited to income statement (763,455) - (763,455)

At 31 March 2004 (763,455) - (763,455)

The Company

Deferred income tax liabilities
Accelerated 

tax 
depreciation

$

At 1 April 2004 419,256
Credited to income statement (53,134)

At 31 March 2005 366,122

At 23 May 2003 -
Charged to income statement 419,256

At 31 March 2004 419,256

Deferred income tax assets
Allowance 

for doubtful 
receivables

$

At 1 April 2004 (763,455)
Credited to income statement (711,784)

At 31 March 2005 (1,475,239)

At 23 May 2003 -
Credited to income statement (763,455)

At 31 March 2004 (763,455)

7. Income taxes (continued)

(c) Deferred income taxes (continued)
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8. Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to members of Yellow Pages 
(Singapore) Limited by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

The Group
23.5.2003 to

2005 31.3.2004

Net profit attributable to members ($) 10,281,874 11,107,154

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for basic earnings per share 117,976,288 100,000,000

Basic earnings per share     8.72 cents    11.11 cents

 The weighted average number of shares in issue for the financial period ended 31 March 2004 has been restated 
to reflect the sub-division of ordinary shares from 5 million ordinary shares of $1.00 each to 100 million ordinary 
shares of $0.05 each on 29 October 2004 (note 24).

 The diluted earnings per share is adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  The Company 
has one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options.  A calculation is done to determine the 
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market share 
price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding 
share options.  The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that would 
have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.  The difference is added to the denominator as 
an issuance of ordinary shares for no consideration.  No adjustment is made to earnings (numerator).

The Group
23.5.2003 to

2005 31.3.2004

Net profit attributable to members ($) 10,281,874 11,107,154

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for basic earnings per share 117,976,288 100,000,000
Adjustments for share options 53,814 -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 118,030,102 100,000,000

Diluted earnings per share 8.71 cents  11.11 cents

9. Cash and cash equivalents

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Cash at bank and on hand 8,592,960 11,359,202 8,144,530 10,715,287
Short-term bank deposits 28,029,210 - 28,029,210 -

36,622,170 11,359,202 36,173,740 10,715,287

 The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate their fair value.
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9. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies :

The Group The Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 34,877,755 10,306,931 34,877,755 10,306,931
United States Dollar 1,295,985 408,356 1,295,985 408,356
Malaysia Ringgit 448,430 643,915 - -

36,622,170 11,359,202 36,173,740 10,715,287

All short-term bank deposits are denominated in Singapore Dollars and have an average maturity of 
64 days (2004: Nil) from the end of the fi nancial year with a weighted average effective interest rate of 
1.86% (2004: Nil) per annum.

The exposure of cash and cash equivalents to interest rate risks is disclosed in note 28 (ii).

10. Trade and other receivables - current

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Trade receivables - third parties :

-  billed receivables 26,383,283 34,613,513 24,382,778 32,740,875
-  unbilled receivables 11,608,394 14,000,673 11,608,394 14,000,673

37,991,677 48,614,186 35,991,172 46,741,548
Less : Allowance for doubtful receivables (19,469,560) (24,115,961) (18,376,338) (22,969,517)
Trade receivables - net 18,522,117 24,498,225 17,614,834 23,772,031
Staff loans (note 16) 28,326 40,483 28,299 38,266
Other receivables 71,674 257,698 62,878 214,826

18,622,117 24,796,406 17,706,011 24,025,123
 

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group’s large number 
of customers.  Therefore, the directors believe that no additional credit risk beyond amounts provided for 
potential collection losses is inherent in the Group’s and Company’s trade receivables.

The carrying amounts of current trade and other receivables approximate their fair value.  The exposure to 
interest rate risks of current trade and other receivables are disclosed in note 28(ii), together with non-current 
trade and other receivables.
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10. Trade and other receivables - current (continued)

Trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies :

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 17,706,011 24,025,123 17,706,011 24,025,123
Malaysia Ringgit 916,106 771,283 - -

18,622,117 24,796,406 17,706,011 24,025,123

11. Inventories

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

At cost :
Published directories 1,003,878 - 557,170 -
Directories in progress 4,244,389 4,855,389 3,793,798 4,414,631
Raw materials 1,732,421 1,121,905 1,732,421 1,121,905

6,980,688 5,977,294 6,083,389 5,536,536

12. Other current assets

The Group The Company
2005   2004 2005    2004

$   $ $    $

Deposits 111,677 148,946 82,106 84,106
Prepayments 598,353 324,218 533,996 218,112

710,030 473,164 616,102 302,218

 The carrying amounts of current deposits approximate their fair value.

13. Due from subsidiaries

(a) Due from subsidiaries - current

The Company
2005 2004

$ $

Trade 884,058 1,481,537
Non-trade 527,348 518,244
Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables (275,912) (358,172)

1,135,494 1,641,609
Loan receivable (note 13(b)) 130,986 129,556

1,266,480 1,771,165

The non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 
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13. Due from subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Due from subsidiaries - current (continued)

The carrying amounts of amounts due from subsidiaries approximate their fair value.

Current amounts due from subsidiaries are denominated in the following currencies :

The Company
2005 2004

$ $

Singapore Dollar 1,135,494 1,641,609
Malaysia Ringgit 130,986 129,556

1,266,480 1,771,165

(b) Due from a subsidiary – non-current

The Company
2005 2004

$ $

Loan receivable (note 31(c)) 1,330,694 1,485,202
Less : Due within next 12 months (note 13(a)) (130,986) (129,556)

1,199,708 1,355,646

The fair value of the non-current portion of loan receivable from a subsidiary is $910,877 (2004: $1,014,232) 
using the discounted cash fl ows derived from a discount rate based upon the Group’s weighted average cost 
of capital (note 21(c)). 

The effective interest rate on the loan extended to the subsidiary is 3.0% (2004: 3.0%) per annum.

The non-current loan receivable from a subsidiary is denominated in Malaysia Ringgit.

14. Due from/to associated companies

(a) Due from an associated company

The Group The Company
2005   2004 2005    2004

$   $ $    $

Trade 12,461 9,306 2,773 9,306
Non-trade 611 21,852 - 302

13,072 31,158 2,773 9,608

The amounts due from an associated company are denominated in the following currencies :

The Group The Company
2005 2004  2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 2,773 9,608 2,773 9,608
Malaysia Ringgit 10,299 21,550 - -

13,072 31,158 2,773 9,608
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14. Due from/to associated companies (continued)

(b) Due to associated companies

  The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Trade 178 - - -
Non-trade 2,520 -   201 -

2,698 - 201 -

The non-trade amounts due from/to the associated companies are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/to associated companies approximate their fair value.

The amounts due to associated companies are principally denominated in Malaysia Ringgit.

15. Other receivables – non-current

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Staff loans (note 16) 5,840 20,924 5,840 18,907
 
The fair values of the Group’s and Company’s non-current staff loans are $5,493 (2004: $19,745) and $5,493 
(2004: $17,842) respectively based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based upon the Group’s 
weighted average cost of capital (note 21(c)). 

Non-current staff loans are denominated in the following currencies :
 

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 5,840 18,907 5,840 18,907
Malaysia Ringgit - 2,017 - -

5,840 20,924 5,840 18,907

The exposure of non-current receivables to interest rate risks is disclosed in note 28(ii).
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16. Staff loans

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Not later than one year (note 10) 28,326 40,483 28,299 38,266
Later than one year but not later than fi ve years 
(note 15) 5,840 20,924 5,840 18,907

34,166 61,407 34,139 57,173

Staff loans are made under an approved staff loan scheme and are interest-free, unsecured and repayable within 
two years. 

17. Other non-current assets 

Other assets comprise club memberships stated at cost.  

18. Investment in a subsidiary

The Company
2005 2004

$ $

Investment at cost 357,938 357,938

Details of the subsidiary are included in note 34. 

19. Investments in associated companies

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Investments at cost 1,954,809 1,954,809

At beginning of the fi nancial year/period 2,598,960 -
Exchange differences 6,093 -
Acquisition - 1,954,809
Share of results before tax (890,507) 1,040,341
Share of tax (note 7(a)) 298,536 (284,995)
Share of results after tax (591,971) 755,346
Dividend received, net of tax (177,279) (111,195)

At end of fi nancial year/period 1,835,803 2,598,960

For the period ended 31 March 2004, the share of results before tax included $221,831 representing the 
negative goodwill credited to the income statement in respect of the excess of the Group’s share of Forward 
Media Sdn Bhd’s identifi able net assets at the date of acquisition over the cost of acquisition.

Details of the associated companies are included in note 34. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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20. Property, plant and equipment 

Freehold
property

$

Leasehold
property

$

Office
equipment 

and 
furniture

$

Computer
equipment

$

Fittings
and

fixtures
$

Motor
Vehicle

$
CIP*

$
Total

$
The Group

Cost 
At 1 April 2004 2,564,108 18,073,600 356,298 2,015,927 366,972 38,751 465,388 23,881,044
Additions - - 19,142 412,707 40,527 - 128,200 600,576
Disposals - - (14,874) (54,857) (3,467) - - (73,198)
Exchange differences   (47,196) - (1,939) (6,034) (1,577) (713) - (57,459)
Transfer - - - 465,388 - - (465,388) -
At 31 March 2005 2,516,912 18,073,600 358,627 2,833,131 402,455 38,038 128,200 24,350,963

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2004   683,761 519,181 134,338 474,933 123,394 38,751 - 1,974,358
Depreciation charge     85,177 692,938 53,496 856,530 59,935 - - 1,748,076
Disposals - - (11,503) (53,920) (3,467) - - (68,890)
Exchange differences   (13,864) - (1,822) (4,560) (1,578) (713) - (22,537)
At 31 March 2005   755,074 1,212,119 174,509 1,272,983 178,284 38,038 - 3,631,007

Net book value
At 31 March 2005 1,761,838 16,861,481 184,118 1,560,148 224,171 - 128,200 20,719,956

Net book value
At 31 March 2004 1,880,347 17,554,419 221,960 1,540,994 243,578 - 465,388 21,906,686

Leasehold
property

$

Office
equipment

and furniture
$

Computer
equipment

$

Fittings
and fixtures

$
CIP*

$
Total

$
The Company

Cost
At 1 April 2004 18,073,600 254,815 1,779,446 282,134 465,388 20,855,383
Additions - 8,730 374,919 40,527 128,200 552,376
Disposals - (4,238) (2,052) - - (6,290)
Transfer - - 465,388 - (465,388) -
At 31 March 2005 18,073,600 259,307 2,617,701 322,661 128,200 21,401,469

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2004 519,181 37,032 252,649 38,643 - 847,505
Depreciation charge 692,938 50,846 839,376 59,847 - 1,643,007
Disposals - (867) (1,115) - - (1,982)
At 31 March 2005 1,212,119 87,011 1,090,910 98,490 - 2,488,530

Net book value
At 31 March 2005 16,861,481 172,296 1,526,791 224,171 128,200 18,912,939

Net book value
At 31 March 2004 17,554,419 217,783 1,526,797 243,491 465,388 20,007,878

* Represents assets where construction is in progress.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2005



Yellow Pages Singapore    Annual Report 2005 71

21. Intangible assets

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Goodwill arising on consolidation 752,781 752,781 - -
Goodwill arising on business acquisition 59,031,738 59,031,738 59,031,738 59,031,738
Intellectual property assets 114,523,637 115,287,139 114,523,637 115,287,139

174,308,156 175,071,658 173,555,375 174,318,877

(a) Goodwill

For the applicable accounting policies, please refer to note 2(e) of the fi nancial statements.

(b) Intellectual property assets

The Group and the Company
2005   2004

$   $

At beginning of fi nancial year/period 115,287,139 -
Acquired during fi nancial period - 115,480,000
Amortisation charge (note 5) (763,502) (192,861)

At end of fi nancial year/period 114,523,637 115,287,139

Trademarks with indefi nite useful lives 112,674,000 112,674,000

Trademarks with defi nite useful lives 2,806,000 2,806,000
Accumulated amortisation (956,363) (192,861)

1,849,637 2,613,139

114,523,637 115,287,139

The intellectual property assets acquired upon business acquisition on 30 June 2003 were valued on the basis 
of fair market “value-in-use” of the brand names and related trademarks by an independent valuer.  As the 
leading publisher of telephone directories as well as the largest provider of classifi ed directory advertising 
and associated products and services in Singapore, the Group has a number of intellectual property assets, 
which are mainly registered trademarks.  

Certain trademarks have been assessed as having indefi nite useful lives with reference to all relevant factors, 
as the directors believe there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which these trademarks are expected 
to generate net cash infl ows for the Group.  This conclusion, which has not changed at 31 March 2005, 
will be subject to annual reviews to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support the 
indefi nite useful life basis for these assets.

Due to a change in business strategy and focus, the estimated useful life of a defi nite life trademark has been 
re-assessed to end at balance sheet date. This resulted in an accelerated amortisation charge of $506,354 
(2004: Nil).

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(c) Impairment test of goodwill and trademarks

The Group operates as one cash-generating unit.  For the purposes of impairment testing, the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit, including goodwill and trademarks, has been determined based on 
value in use calculations.  These calculations use cash flow projections approved by the directors based on 
financial forecasts covering a five-year period with the following key assumptions.

(1) Earnings before interest, tax, deprecation and amortisation (EBITDA) compounded annual growth rate  
of 7.5% (2004:7.4%).

(2) Discount rate of 6.3% (2004: 6.3%).

The EBITDA growth rate is projected based on the expected results of product enhancements and market 
potential.  The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is determined based on the weighted average 
cost of capital of the business.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the Gordon Growth model at zero growth rate.

The directors believe that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable 
amount is based would not cause the carrying amount of goodwill and indefinite life trademarks to exceed 
its recoverable amount.

22. Trade and other payables

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Trade payables – third parties 1,271,662 1,535,289 1,018,380 1,207,231
Other creditors and accruals 4,145,706 4,444,760 4,026,494 4,376,653
Accrued interest payable - bonds 29,127 - 29,127 -
Accrued interest payable - bank term loan - 28,906 - 28,906

5,446,495 6,008,955 5,074,001 5,612,790

The carrying amounts of current trade and other payables approximate their fair value.

Trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies :

The Group The Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $

Singapore Dollar 5,074,001 5,612,790 5,074,001 5,612,790
Malaysia Ringgit 372,494 396,165 - -

5,446,495 6,008,955 5,074,001 5,612,790

21. Intangible assets (continued)
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23. Borrowings

Notes The Group and the Company
2005 2004

$ $
Current
Bank term loan (b) - 20,650,000
Deferred fi nancing costs - (1,641,670)

- 19,008,330

Non-current
Bonds (a) 130,000,000 -
Deferred fi nancing costs (768,906) -

129,231,094 -

Bank term loan (b) - 110,250,000
Deferred fi nancing costs - (3,811,560)

- 106,438,440

Loan from previous holding corporation (c) - 83,000,000

129,231,094 189,438,440

Gross borrowings 130,000,000 213,900,000
Deferred fi nancing costs (d) (768,906) (5,453,230)

Total Borrowings 129,231,094 208,446,770

All borrowings are denominated in Singapore Dollars.

(a) Bonds

The unsecured fi xed rate bonds, which were issued and listed on the SGX-ST on 30 September 2004, will 
mature on 30 September 2009.  Interest is payable semi-annually while the principal amount is payable in 
full in one payment upon maturity.  The bonds were issued to re-fi nance the bank term loan (note 23(b)).

(b) Bank term loan

The bank term loan was obtained to fi nance the business acquisition on 30 June 2003 and was secured over 
the Company’s total assets, capped at the amount outstanding.  It has been fully repaid on 30 September 
2004 with the proceeds from the issuance of bonds (note 23(a)).

(c) Loan from previous holding corporation

The unsecured loan from previous holding corporation was repaid on 9 December 2004 using the proceeds 
from the Company’s Initial Public Offering. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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23. Borrowings (continued)

(d) Deferred financing costs

The Group and the Company
2005    2004

$    $

At beginning of financial year/period 5,453,230 -
Incurred during financial year/period 854,317 6,760,963
Amortisation charge (769,446) (1,307,733)
Written off due to early repayment of bank term loan (4,769,195) -

At end of financial year/period 768,906 5,453,230

Cost 854,317 6,760,963
Accumulated amortisation (85,411) (1,307,733)

768,906 5,453,230

Deferred financing costs are transaction costs incurred in connection with long-term financing.  

(e) Interest rate risks

The weighted average effective interest rates of total borrowings at the balance sheet date are as follows :

The Group and the Company
2005 2004

Bonds 4.195% -
Bank term loan - 4.030%
Loan from previous holding corporation - 9.028%
 
The exposure of current and non-current borrowings to interest rate risk is disclosed in note 28(ii).

(f) Carrying amounts and fair values

The carrying amounts and fair values of non-current borrowings are as follows :

Carrying amounts Fair values
2005 2004 2005 2004

$ $ $ $
The Group and the Company

Bonds 130,000,000 - 129,675,000 -
Bank term loan -   110,250,000 - 110,250,000
Loan from previous holding corporation - 83,000,000 - 111,449,860

The fair value of the bonds is based on independent market quotation.  The fair value for bank term loan and 
loan from previous holding corporation was based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based upon 
the borrowing rate which the directors expect would be available to the Group at the balance sheet date.
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(g) Maturity of non-current gross borrowings

The Group and the Company
2005 2004

$ $

Between 1 and 2 years - 21,000,000
Between 2 and 5 years 130,000,000 89,250,000
Over 5 years - 83,000,000

130,000,000 193,250,000

24. Share capital of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited

On 29 October 2004, the Company carried out a capital restructuring exercise by sub-dividing each ordinary 
share of $1.00 into 20 ordinary shares of $0.05 each.

(a) Authorised ordinary share capital

The authorised share capital of the Company is $10,000,000 comprising 200 million shares (2004: 10 million 
shares) with a par value of $0.05 per share (2004: $1 per share).

(b) Issued and paid up ordinary share capital

2005 2004 2005 2004
Shares Shares $ $

At beginning of fi nancial year/period 100,000,000 40* 5,000,000 2
Issued during fi nancial year/period 58,065,000   99,999,960* 2,903,250 4,999,998

At end of fi nancial year/period 158,065,000 100,000,000* 7,903,250 5,000,000

* Restated to refl ect the sub-division of ordinary shares on 29 October 2004.  At 31 March 2004, the issued and paid-up ordinary 

share capital consisted of 5 million ordinary shares of $1 each.

The issued and paid up ordinary share capital increased from $5,000,000 to $7,903,250 on 9 December 2004 
by way of issuance of 58,065,000 new ordinary shares of $0.05 each pursuant to the Initial Public Offering of 
shares.  The new shares were issued at a premium of $1.61 per share for cash.  The proceeds from the issuance 
were mainly used to repay the loan from the previous holding corporation (note 23(c)).  The newly issued shares 
rank pari passu in all aspects with the previously issued shares.

The movements in the share premium account are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

(c) Share options 

The Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by the shareholders of the Company on 
29 October 2004.

Under the Scheme, share options are granted to employees of the Company or its subsidiaries (including 
executive directors) with at least 1 year of service prior to the date of grant and to non-executive directors of 
the Group at the absolute discretion of the Remuneration Committee.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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The exercise price of the granted options can be equal to, higher than or set at a discount to the average of the 
closing prices of the Company’s ordinary shares on the SGX-ST for the five market days immediately preceding 
the date of grant (“Market Price”).  The discount granted shall not exceed 20% of the Market Price.

The vesting of granted options is conditional on the Group achieving its targets of profitability and subject to 
individual performance of the participant.  The options are exercisable, upon vesting, for varying contractual 
option terms of up to ten years after the date of grant.  The options may be exercised in full or in part in respect 
of 1,000 shares or a multiple thereof, on the payment of the exercise price.  The persons to whom the options 
have been issued have no right to participate by virtue of the options in any share issue of any other company.  
The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

No option has been granted under the Scheme except for the options granted (“Options Exchange”) in place of 
the outstanding and unexercised share options granted by the previous holding corporation, Asia Directory S.à r.l in 
respect of the shares in Asia Directory S.à r.l held by some members of the management, which were terminated on 
the date of the Company’s listing on the Main Board of the SGX-ST on 9 December 2004.  Refer to notes 30 and 31(b).

Options to subscribe for a total of 1,264,103 ordinary shares of $0.05 each with an exercise price of $1.66 per 
ordinary share were granted pursuant to the Options Exchange on 9 December 2004 and are exercisable for a 
period of 10 years after the date of grant subject to the following vesting schedule :

Vesting Period
Proportion of total share 

options that are exercisable

The day after the first anniversary of the date of grant 25% of grant
30 June 2006 50% of grant
30 June 2007 75% of grant
30 June 2008 100% of grant

Movements in the number of share options to subscribe for ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the 
financial year are as follows :

 

The Group and The Company
Number of outstanding options

Granted 
during the 
financial 

year

Forfeited 
during the 
financial 

year

At end 
of the 

financial 
year

Exercise 
Price Exercise period

Financial year ended 31 March 2005
Options Exchange 1,264,103            - 1,264,103 $1.66 10.12.2005 - 8.12.2014

25. Retained earnings

Movements in retained earnings for the Company are as follows :

The Company
2005 2004

$ $

At beginning of financial year/period   9,754,300 -
Net profit during financial year/period 10,404,903 9,754,300

At end of financial year/period 20,159,203 9,754,300

Movements in retained earnings for the Group are shown in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.
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26. Dividends

No dividend has been paid by the Company since its incorporation on 23 May 2003.

For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2005, the Board of Directors has proposed a fi nal dividend of 6.5 cents 
per ordinary share.  In addition, a special dividend of 5.3 cents per ordinary share has been recommended.  
The total dividend of 11.8 cents per ordinary share is a tax exempt (one-tier) dividend. 

As the dividend proposal is subject to approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company, 
these fi nancial statements do not refl ect this dividend, which will be accounted for in the shareholders’ equity 
as an appropriation of retained earnings in the fi nancial year ending 31 March 2006.

27. Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the fi nancial statements is 
as follows :

The Group and the Company
2005 2004

$ $

Computer equipment 27,300 180,950
 
(b) Operating lease commitments – where a group company is a lessee

The Group leases certain computer and offi ce equipment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.  
The leases have varying terms and renewal rights.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the 
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows :

The Group The Company
  2005   2004   2005   2004

  $   $   $   $

Not later than one fi nancial year 328,109 294,048 310,898 294,048
Later than one fi nancial year but
  not later than fi ve fi nancial years 443,962 665,012 428,744 665,012

772,071 959,060 739,642 959,060

(c) Operating lease commitments – where a group company is a lessor

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the 
reporting date but not recognised as receivables, are as follows :

The Group The Company
  2005   2004   2005   2004

  $   $   $   $

Not later than one fi nancial year 807,715 761,622 717,205 667,296
Later than one fi nancial year but
  not later than fi ve fi nancial years 868,969 1,096,613 778,459 1,096,613
Later than fi ve fi nancial years - 22,430 - 22,430

1,676,684 1,880,665 1,495,664 1,786,339

Notes to the Financial Statements
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28. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates and interest rates.  The Group’s overall risk management programme seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects of the unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial performance.  Derivative 
financial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps have been used to hedge 
certain exposures.  Derivative counterparties are limited to high credit quality financial institutions.

(i)   Foreign exchange risk

 The foreign exchange risk of the Group arises mainly from the Company’s long-term directory paper purchase 
contract denominated in US Dollars. The Company has entered into a forward foreign exchange contract 
to hedge against its foreign exchange risk resulting from its contractual commitments.  

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rate.  Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from non-current borrowings.  The Company’s interest rate risk 
mainly arises from non-current borrowings and a loan to a subsidiary.  The borrowings and loan to a subsidiary 
at fixed rates do not expose the Group and the Company to cash flow interest rate risk, but expose the 
Group and the Company to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group has cash balances placed with certain reputable banks in the form of short-term deposits which 
generate interest income for the Group.  The interest income is subject to changes in market interest rates 
or cash flow interest rate risk.

The table below sets out the Group and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risks.  Included in the table are the 
assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

The Group

Variable rates Fixed rates

Less than 
6 months

6 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

1 to 5 
years

Over 
5 years

Non-
interest 
bearing Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 March 2005
Assets
Cash and cash
  equivalents 28,029 - - - - 8,593 36,622
Trade and other
  receivables - - - - - 18,641 18,641
Investments - - - - - 1,836 1,836
Other assets - - - - - 204,526 204,526

Total assets 28,029 - - - - 233,596 261,625

Liabilities
Borrowings - - - 129,231 - - 129,231
Other liabilities - - - - - 14,316 14,316

Total liabilities - - - 129,231 - 14,316 143,547
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28. Financial risk management (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii) Cash fl ow and fair value interest rate risks (continued)

The Group

Variable rates Fixed rates

Less than 
6 months

6 to 12 
months

 
1 to 5 
years

1 to 5 
years

Over 
5 years

Non-
interest 
bearing Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 March 2004
Assets
Cash and cash
  equivalents - - - - - 11,359 11,359
Trade and other
  receivables - - - - - 24,849 24,849
Investments - - - - - 2,599 2,599
Other assets - - - - - 203,946 203,946

Total assets - - - - - 242,753 242,753

Liabilities
Borrowings 125,447 - - - 83,000 - 208,447
Other liabilities - - - - - 18,196 18,196

Total liabilities 125,447 - - - 83,000 18,196 226,643

The Company

Variable rates Fixed rates

Less than 
6 months

6 to 12 
months

 
1 to 5 
years

1 to 5 
years

Over
5 years

Non-
interest 
bearing Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 March 2005
Assets
Cash and cash
  equivalents 28,029 - - - - 8,145 36,174
Trade and other
  receivables - - - 695 635 18,851 20,181
Investments - - - - - 2,313 2,313
Other assets - - - - - 200,424 200,424

Total assets 28,029 - - 695 635 229,733 259,092

Liabilities
Borrowings - - - 129,231 - - 129,231
Other liabilities - - - - - 13,013 13,013

Total liabilities - - - 129,231 - 13,013 142,244
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28. Financial risk management (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks (continued)

The Company
Variable rates Fixed rates

Less than 
6 months

6 to 12 
months

 
1 to 5 
years

1 to 5 
years

Over 
5 years

Non-
interest 
bearing Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 March 2004
Assets
Cash and cash
  equivalents - - - - - 10,715 10,715
Trade and other
  receivables - - - 688 797 25,696 27,181
Investments - - - - - 2,313 2,313
Other assets - - - - - 200,657 200,657

Total assets - - - 688 797 239,381 240,866

Liabilities
Borrowings 125,447 - - - 83,000 - 208,447
Other liabilities - - - - - 17,665 17,665

Total liabilities 125,447 - - - 83,000 17,665 226,112

Generally, the Company manages its cash flow interest rate risk from borrowings by using floating-to-fixed 
interest rate swaps.  Such interest rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings from 
floating rates to fixed rates.  

The exposure of current and non-current borrowings to interest rate risks was as follows :

Variable rates Fixed rates

Within
1 year

1 to 5 
years

Over 
5 years Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
The Group and the Company
At 31 March 2004
Gross borrowings 130,900 - 83,000 213,900
Effect of interest rate swaps (note 29(b)) (130,900) 130,900 - -

- 130,900 83,000 213,900

There are no interest rate swap arrangements in place as at 31 March 2005 as the Group has only fixed 
rate borrowings.

(iii) Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.  The Group has policies in place to review the 
risk profiles and credit history of customers before granting credit to them. The exposure is limited to the 
amount of receivable less allowance for doubtful debts in the balance sheet at any point in time.  

(iv) Liquidity risk

The Group closely monitors and manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of 
funding. The Group maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management and ensures 
flexibility in meeting funding requirement by securing revolving credit facilities which are currently undrawn.
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29. Derivative fi nancial instruments 
 

In order to manage the risks arising from fl uctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates, the Company 
makes use of the following derivative fi nancial instruments :

(a) Forward foreign exchange contracts

A forward foreign exchange contract is entered into to manage exposure to fl uctuations in US Dollar exchange 
rate in relation to the purchase of directory paper.

At 31 March 2005, the settlement dates on the open forward exchange contract ranged between 8 days and 4 
and a half years (2004: 2 days and 5 and a half years).  The local currency amounts to be paid and contractual 
exchange rates of the Company’s outstanding contract were : 

The Group and the Company
2005 2004

$ $

US dollars at rate US$1 = S$1.6550 3,616,506 -
US dollars at rate US$1 = S$1.6875 22,125,150 26,734,556

(b) Interest rate swaps

There are no outstanding interest rate swap arrangements in place as at 31 March 2005.

At 31 March 2004, there was an outstanding interest rate swap contract which had the economic effect of 
converting the then outstanding bank term loan (note 23(b)) from a fl oating rate borrowing to a fi xed rate 
borrowing.  The fi xed interest rate was 1.53% per annum and the fl oating rate was linked to SGD-SOR.  The 
notional principal amount of the outstanding interest rate swap at 31 March 2004 of the Company was 
$130,900,000.  The contract was subsequently terminated on 30 August 2004 in anticipation of the full 
repayment of the bank term loan on 30 September 2004.

(c) Net fair values

The net fair values of the Group’s and Company’s derivative fi nancial instruments at the balance sheet date were:

The Group and the Company
2005 2004

$ $

Favourable interest rate swap contract - 1,460,373
Unfavourable forward foreign exchange contract (843,454) (668,371)

The fair values of interest rate swap and forward foreign exchange contract have been calculated using rates 
quoted by the Company’s bankers to terminate the contracts at the balance sheet date.

30. Immediate and ultimate holding corporation

Asia Directory S.à r.l, incorporated in Luxembourg, ceased to be the Company’s immediate and ultimate holding 
corporation upon the Company’s listing on the Main Board of SGX-ST on 9 December 2004.  The Company is 
no longer controlled by Asia Directory S.à r.l or any other entity after its listing.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2005



31. Related party transactions

The following transactions took place between the Group and related parties during the financial year :
 
(a) Key management’s remuneration 

The key management’s remuneration included fees, salary, bonus, commission and other emoluments (including 
benefits-in-kind) computed based on the cost incurred by the Group and the Company, and where the Group 
or Company did not incur any costs, the value of the benefit is included.  The key management’s remuneration 
was as follows :

The Group

2005
23.5.2003 to 

31.3.2004
$ $

Key management’s remuneration :
- directors of the Company 744,744 171,030
- others 1,329,827 933,672

Included in the remuneration paid/payable to the directors of the Company was an amount of $146,000 (2004: 
Nil) paid to the employers of certain directors.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2005, a special bonus was paid out by Asia Directory S.à r.l, the 
previous holding corporation, to a director ($500,000) and key management ($690,000) in appreciation for 
their efforts related to the sale of the vendor shares during the Initial Public Offering of shares of the Company.  
The special bonus is not included in the above disclosure as the expense was not recognised by the Group.
 
Prior to the liquidation of Asia Directory S.à r.l, shares held by key management in the previous holding 
corporation were partly repaid in cash of $758,119 and partly converted into 539,696 shares in Yellow Pages 
(Singapore) Limited.

(b) Share options granted to key management

The aggregate number of shares comprised in options granted to key management of the Group during the 
financial year was 1,264,103 (2004: Nil) (note 24(c)).  Should there be options granted to other employees, 
the terms and conditions of such options would be the same as those for key management.  The outstanding 
number of shares comprised in options granted to key management of the Group at the end of financial year 
was 1,264,103 (2004: Nil).

(c) Loan to a subsidiary

The outstanding loan to a subsidiary amounting to $1,330,694 (2004: $1,485,202) as set out in note 13(b), 
is unsecured, bears interest at 3.0% (2004: 3.0%) per annum from 30 June 2003 and is repayable in annual 
instalments by 1 April 2013.

(d) Income and purchases of services

The Group

2005
23.5.2003 to 

31.3.2004
$ $

Management fees earned from an associated company      
  – Forward Media Sdn Bhd       60,857       37,313

IT related service fees paid/payable to an associated company 
  – Integrated Databases India Ltd     242,263     171,986

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2005
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31. Related party transactions (continued)

(d) Income and purchases of services (continued)

Both income and purchases of services to/from associated companies were carried out on terms agreed between 
the two parties.  The management fees were charged for services rendered to Forward Media Sdn Bhd which 
included marketing and sales of advertisements and development of advertising strategies.  Fees paid/payable 
to Integrated Databases India Ltd pertained to IT related services rendered to the Company.

32. Segment information

As the group operates principally in one business segment (directory advertising) and one geographical segment 
(Singapore), segment information is not presented.

33. Authorisation of fi nancial statements

These fi nancial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors 
of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited on 23 June 2005.

34. Listing of companies in the Group

Name of company Principal activities
Country of 

incorporation
Percentage of

equity held

2005 2004
% %

Subsidiary held by the Company

* Integrated Information
(M) Sdn Bhd

Selling of advertising space in
Singapore and overseas telephone
directories and magazines

Malaysia 100 100

Subsidiaries held by subsidiary

* Tourism Publications
Corporation Sdn Bhd

Selling of advertising space in
telephone directories and 
publishing magazines periodicals, 
journals and directories

Malaysia 100 100

** Viva Bahagia Sdn Bhd To acquire property for investment
and letting and general trading

Malaysia 100 100

Associated companies held by the Company

* Forward Media Sdn Bhd Selling of advertising space,
publishing and marketing of
directories and other publications

Brunei 50 50

* Integrated Databases
India Ltd

Publishing of yellow pages 
type of directories, trade
publications and consumers
and travel related publications

India 49 49

 
*    Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers fi rms outside Singapore
**  Audited by Mahinder Singh & Co., Malaysia

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2005
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(a) Material contracts

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the interests 
of the Chief Executive Officer, any Director or controlling shareholder, either still subsisting at the end of the 
financial year, or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

(b) Directors’ remuneration

The following information relates to remuneration of directors of the Company during the financial year :

2005 2004
Number of directors of the Company in remuneration bands :

- $250,000 to below $500,000 1 -
- below $250,000 8 6

Total 9 6

Remuneration of directors who have served for part of the financial year ended 31 March 2005 is as follows :

 $
 

Richard Charles Helfer* 48,000
Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo 49,000
Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong 49,000
James Andrew Smith 91,545
Percy King a.k.a. Jin Bor-Shi -
Ming Lu -

* Remuneration payable to the employer of the director 

(c) Properties of the Group

Location Existing Use Tenure Years With Effect 
From

Gross Floor Area 
(sq m)

1 Lorong 2 Toa Payoh
Yellow Pages Building 
Singapore

Headquarters Leasehold 60 26.07.69 13,223

Ampang, Kuala Lumpur Office premises Freehold    -               -      1,368

(d) Interested person transactions

During the financial year, there were no interested person transactions entered into by the Group for which 
disclosure is required under Rule 907 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

Additional Information
For the financial year ended 31 March 2005
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Shareholders’ Information
As at 8 June 2005

Share capital

Authorised Share Capital :  $10,000,000
Issued and Paid-Up Capital :  $7,903,250
Class of Shares :  Ordinary Shares of $0.05 each
Voting Rights :  On a show of hands - one vote
  On a poll - one vote for every ordinary share

Profi le of shareholders

Range of shareholdings No. of shareholders % No. of shares %

1 – 999 13 0.41 4,045 0.00
1,000 – 10,000 2,653 83.66 11,344,000 7.18
10,001 – 1,000,000 498 15.71 23,362,141 14.78
1,000,001 and above 7 0.22 123,354,814 78.04

3,171 100.00 158,065,000 100.00

Substantial shareholders

As shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders

Direct 
interest

Deemed 
interest

Total
Interest

% of Issued 
Share Capital 

of the 
Company

JPMP YPS Holdings S.à r.l 13,380,910 - 13,380,910 8.47
Asia Opportunity Company (1) (2) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
Asia Opportunity Fund, L.P. (1) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
CAIP Co-Investment Fund Parallel Fund (I) C. V. (1) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
CAIP Co-Investment Fund Parallel Fund (II) C. V. (1) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
J.P. Morgan Asia Investment Partners, L.P. (1) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
J.P. Morgan Asia Equity Partners, L.P. (1) (3) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
JPMP Asia Equity Company (1) (4) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
JPMP Master Fund Manager, L.P. (1) (5) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
JPMP Capital Corp.(1) (6) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
JPMP Global Investors, L.P. (1) (7) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors A, L.P.(1) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors (Cayman), L.P.(1) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors (Cayman) II, L.P.(1) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors (Cayman) III, L.P.(1) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors, L.P.(1) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors (Selldown), L.P.(1) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors (Cayman/Selldown) 
  III, L.P.(1) - 13,380,910 13,380,910 8.47
JPMorgan Chase & Co. (1) (8) - 17,400,910 17,400,910 11.01
Capricorn S.à r.l 8,920,607 - 8,920,607 5.64
CVC Capital Partners Asia Pacifi c LP (9) - 8,920,607 8,920,607 5.64
T. Rowe Price International, Inc. (10) - 9,301,000 9,301,000 5.88

No. of shares



Notes:

(1) JPMP YPS Holdings S.à r.l (“JMPYPSH”) is wholly-owned by Asia Opportunity Fund, L.P. (“AOF”), CAIP  
Co-Investment Fund Parallel Fund (I) C.V. (“CAIPI”), CAIP Co-Investment Fund Parallel Fund (II) C.V. (“CAIPII”), 
J.P. Morgan Asia Investment Partners, L.P. (“JPMAIP”), J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors, L.P. (“JPMPGILP”), 
J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors A, L.P. (“JPMPGIA”), J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors (Cayman), 
L.P. (“JPMPGIC”), J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors (Cayman) II, L.P. (“JPMPGICII”), J.P. Morgan Partners 
Global Investors (Cayman) III, L.P. (“JPMPGICIII”),  J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors (Cayman/Selldown) 
III, L.P. (“JPMPGI(CS)”), and J.P. Morgan Partners Global Investors (Selldown), L.P. (“JPMPGIS”) (together, the 
“JPMP Investors”) collectively. As all of the JPMP Investors are considered to be associates of the other for the 
purposes of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, each JPMP Investor is deemed to have an interest 
in the 13,380,910 shares of $0.05 each in the capital of the Company (“Shares”)  held by JMPYPSH.

(2) Asia Opportunity Company (“AOC”) is deemed to have an interest in the 13,680,910 Shares held by JMPYPSH 
in its capacity as General Partner of each of: (i) AOF; (ii) CAIPI; and (iii) CAIPII, each of which is, or its respective 
directors are accustomed or under an obligation whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the 
directions, instructions or wishes of AOC as General Partner.

(3) J.P. Morgan Asia Equity Partners, L.P. (“JPMAEP”) is deemed to have an interest in the 13,680,910 Shares held 
by JMPYPSH (i) by virtue of its controlling interest in AOC, which in turn is the General Partner of each of AOF, 
CAIPI and CAIPII, each of which is, or its respective directors are accustomed or under an obligation whether 
formal or informal to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of AOC as General Partner, 
and (ii) in its capacity as General Partner of JPMAIP, which is accustomed or under an obligation whether formal 
or informal to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of JPMAEP as General Partner. 

(4) JPMP Asia Equity Company (“JPMPAEC”) is deemed to have an interest in the 13,380,910 Shares held by 
JMPYPSH by virtue of its controlling interest in JPMAEP, which in turn (i) has a controlling interest in AOC, 
which in turn is the General Partner of each of AOF, CAIPI and CAIPII, each of which is, or its respective 
directors are accustomed or under an obligation whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the 
directions, instructions or wishes of AOC as General Partner; and (ii) is the General Partner of JPMAIP, which 
is accustomed or under an obligation whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the directions, 
instructions or wishes of JPMAEP as General Partner. 

(5) JPMP Master Fund Manager, L.P. (“JPMPMFM”) is deemed to have an interest in the 13,380,910 Shares held 
by JMPYPSH by virtue of its controlling interest in JPMPAEC, which in turn has a controlling interest in JPMAEP, 
which in turn (i) has a controlling interest in AOC, which in turn is the General Partner of each of AOF, CAIPI 
and CAIPII, each of which is, or its respective directors are accustomed or under an obligation whether formal 
or informal to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of AOC as General Partner; and 
(ii) is the General Partner of JPMAIP, which is accustomed or under an obligation whether formal or informal 
to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of JPMAEP as General Partner. 

(6) JPMP Capital Corp. (“JPMPCC”) is deemed to have an interest in the 13,380,910 Shares held by JMPYPSH in 
its capacity as (i) General Partner of JPMPMFM, which is, or its directors are accustomed or under an obligation 
whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of JPMPCC as 
General Partner. JPMPMFM in turn has a controlling interest in JPMPAEC, which in turn has a controlling interest 
in JPMAEP, which in turn (a) has a controlling interest in AOC, which in turn is the General Partner of each 
of AOF, CAIPI and CAIPII, each of which is, or its respective directors are accustomed or under an obligation 
whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of AOC as General 
Partner; and (b) is the General Partner of JPMAIP, which is accustomed or under an obligation whether formal 
or informal to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of JPMAEP as General Partner; and 
(ii) General Partner of JPMP Global Investors, L.P. (“JPMPGI”), which is, or its directors are accustomed or under 
an obligation whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of 

Substantial shareholders (continued)

Shareholders’ Information
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JPMPCC as General Partner. JPMPGI is in turn the General Partner of each of JPMPGILP, JPMPGIA, JPMPGIC, 
JPMPGICII, JPMPGICIII, JPMPGIS and JPMPGI(CS), each of which is, or its respective directors are accustomed 
or under an obligation whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or 
wishes of JPMPGI as General Partner. 

(7) JPMPGI is deemed to have an interest in the 13,380,910 Shares held by JMPYPSH in its capacity as General 
Partner of each of JPMPGILP, JPMPGIA, JPMPGIC, JPMPGICII, JPMPGICIII, JPMPGIS and JPMPGI(CS), each of 
which is, or its respective directors are accustomed or under an obligation whether formal or informal to act 
in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of JPMPGI as General Partner.

(8) JPMorgan Chase & Co. (“JPMC”) is deemed to be interested in the 13,380,910 Shares held by JMPYPSH by 
virtue of a controlling interest in JPMPCC. JPMPCC is the General Partner of JPMPMFM, which is, or its directors 
are accustomed or under an obligation whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the directions, 
instructions or wishes of JPMPCC as General Partner. JPMPMFM in turn has a controlling interest in JPMPAEC, 
which in turn has a controlling interest in JPMAEP, which in turn (1) has a controlling interest in AOC, which 
in turn is the General Partner of each of AOF, CAIPI and CAIPII, each of which is, or its respective directors 
are accustomed or under an obligation whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the directions, 
instructions or wishes of AOC as General Partner; and (2) is the General Partner of JPMAIP, which is accustomed 
or under an obligation whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the directions, instructions or 
wishes of JPMAEP as General Partner. JPMPCC is also the General Partner of JPMPGI, which is, or its directors 
are accustomed or under an obligation whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the directions, 
instructions or wishes of JPMPCC as General Partner. JPMPGI is in turn the General Partner of each of JPMPGILP, 
JPMPGIA, JPMPGIC, JPMPGICII and JPMPGICIII, JPMPGIS and JPMPGI(CS), each of which is, or its respective 
directors are accustomed or under an obligation whether formal or informal to act in accordance with the 
directions, instructions or wishes of JPMPGI as General Partner. All of the JPMP Investors are considered to be 
associates of the other for the purposes of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50.

 JPMC is also deemed to have an interest in 3,520,000 and 500,000 Shares held by JF Asset Management 
(Singapore) Limited (“JFSI”) and JF Asset Management Limited (“JFAM”) respectively, in each of their capacities 
as discretionary investment managers to their clients.  JPMC’s deemed interest as aforesaid arises by virtue of its 
controlling interest in JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings, Inc., which in turn has a controlling interest in 
JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc., which in turn has a controlling interest in each of JFSI and JFAM.

(9) CVC Capital Partners Asia Pacifi c LP is deemed to have an interest in the 8,920,607 Shares held by its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Capricorn S.à r.l. 

(10) Details of the deemed interest are not available at the time of printing.

Shareholders’ Information
As at 8 June 2005
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Twenty largest shareholders

As shown in the Register of Members and Depository Register

No. of shares %

DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 45,194,314 28.59
Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd 24,064,300 15.22
HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 20,128,500 12.73
Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 15,235,700 9.64
United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 13,111,000 8.29
Morgan Stanley Asia (Singapore) Securities Pte Ltd 4,434,000 2.81
OCBC Securities Private Ltd 1,187,000 0.75
The Asia Life Assurance Society Ltd – Par Fund 750,000 0.47
DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 727,000 0.46
DMG & Partners Securities Pte Ltd 700,000 0.44
Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 660,000 0.42
Merrill Lynch (Singapore) Pte Ltd 572,000 0.36
Ng Kim Shan 392,000 0.25
UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 376,000 0.24
Goh Sik Ngee 351,142 0.22
Royal Bank of Canada (Asia) Ltd 306,000 0.19
Yong Swee Ing 300,000 0.19
The Asia Life Assurance Society Ltd – Non-Par Fund 290,000 0.18
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 273,000 0.17
Teo Leng Teow & Sons Investments (Pte) Ltd 220,000 0.14

129,271,956 81.76

Based on the information available to the Company as at 8 June 2005, approximately 77.17% of the issued 
ordinary shares of the Company is held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual issued by 
the SGX-ST has been complied with.

Shareholders’ Information
As at 8 June 2005
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE 2ND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company will be held at 
Reception Hall, 5th Floor South Tower, Meritus Mandarin Singapore, 333 Orchard Road, Singapore 238867 on 
Friday, 22 July 2005 at 11.00 a.m. to transact the following businesses:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2005 and 
the Directors’ Report and the Auditors’ Report thereon.

(Resolution 1)

2. To declare a fi rst and fi nal tax exempt (one–tier) dividend of 6.5 cents per share and a special 
tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 5.3 cents per share in respect of the fi nancial year ended 
31 March 2005. 

(Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect Mr Stephen King Chang-Min who retires by rotation in accordance with Article 91 of 
the Company’s Articles of Association and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

(Resolution 3)

4. To re-elect the following Directors who cease to hold offi ce in accordance with Article 97 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:

 (a) Dr Richard Charles Helfer (independent member of Audit Committee) (Resolution 4)

 (b) Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo (Chairman & independent member of Audit Committee) (Resolution 5)

 (c) Mrs Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong (independent member of Audit Committee) (Resolution 6)

5. To approve Directors’ fees payable by the Company of $250,000 for the fi nancial year ended 
31 March 2005 (2004: Nil).

(Resolution 7)

6. To appoint Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fi x their remuneration. (Resolution 8)

7. To transact any other business of an Annual General Meeting.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

8. To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass with or without any amendments the following 
resolutions as ordinary resolutions:

(a) That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to: (Resolution 9)

(i) (a)  issue shares in the capital of the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, 
bonus or otherwise; and/or

(b) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that 
might or would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation 
and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments 
convertible into shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such 
persons as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fi t; and

(ii) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in 
force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors 
while this Resolution was in force,

provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including 
shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this 
Resolution) does not exceed 50% of the issued share capital of the Company (as 
calculated in accordance with paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number 
of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company 
(including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant 
to this Resolution) does not exceed 20% of the issued share capital of the Company 
(as calculated in accordance with paragraph (2) below);

Notice of Annual General Meeting

YELLOW PAGES (SINGAPORE) LIMITED 
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore
Company Registration No. 200304719G

The initial public offering of the shares of S$0.05 each in the capital of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited was sponsored by UBS 
AG, acting through its business group, UBS Investment Bank, and DBS Bank Ltd.



(2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”)) for the purpose of determining the aggregate 
number of shares that may be issued under paragraph (1) above, the percentage of 
issued share capital shall be based on the issued share capital of the Company at the 
time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or 
share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the 
time this Resolution is passed; and

(ii) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with 
the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless 
such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for 
the time being of the Company; and

(4) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred 
by this Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

(b) That approval be and is hereby given to the Directors to offer and grant options 
(“Options”) in accordance with the provisions of the Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme 
(the “Scheme”) and to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the 
capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of 
Options under the Scheme, provided that the aggregate number of shares to be allotted 
and issued pursuant to the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the total issued share capital 
of the Company from time to time.

(Resolution 10)

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Wan May Wah (Ms)/Yap Lune Teng (Ms)
Joint Company Secretaries
Singapore
7 July 2005

STATEMENT PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 54 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY

Resolution 9 is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company and to make or grant 
instruments (such as warrants or debentures) convertible into shares, and to issue shares in pursuance of such 
instruments, up to an amount not exceeding in total 50% of the issued share capital of the Company, with a sub-
limit of 20% for issues other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders. For the purpose of determining the aggregate 
number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued share capital shall be based on the issued share 
capital at the time that Resolution 9 is passed, after adjusting for (a) new shares arising from the conversion or 
exercise of any convertible securities or share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting 
at the time that Resolution 9 is passed, and (b) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.

Resolution 10 is to empower the Directors to offer and grant options, and to allot and issue shares in the capital of 
the Company, pursuant to the Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”), provided that the aggregate 
number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme does not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the 
Company from time to time.

NOTES:

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two 
proxies to attend and vote instead of him and such proxy need not be a member of the Company.  Every instrument 
of proxy shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 1 Lorong 2 Toa Payoh, Yellow Pages Building, 
Singapore 319637 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.
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YELLOW PAGES (SINGAPORE) LIMITED 
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore
Company Registration No. 200304719G

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

IMPORTANT

1. For investors who have used their CPF moneys to buy shares (“CPF 
investors”) in the capital of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited, this 
Proxy Form is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved 
Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY. 

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective 
for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

I/We ____________________________________________________________________ NRIC No. ____________________________

of __________________________________________________________________________________________________________,

being a member/members of Yellow Pages (Singapore) Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint :

NAME ADDRESS NRIC/PASSPORT NUMBER PROPORTION OF 
SHAREHOLDINGS (%)

AND/OR (DELETE AS APPROPRIATE)

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy/proxies 
to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll, at the 2nd Annual General Meeting of 
the Company to be held at Reception Hall, 5th Floor South Tower, Meritus Mandarin Singapore, 333 Orchard Road, Singapore 
238867 on Friday, 22 July 2005 at 11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided below whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the Ordinary 
Resolutions as set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting.  In the absence of specifi c directions, the proxy/proxies will 
vote or abstain as he/they may think fi t, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.)

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts, Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report

2. To declare a fi rst and fi nal tax-exempt (one-tier) dividend of 6.5 cents per share and a 
special tax-exempt (one-tier) dividend of 5.3 cents per share in respect of the fi nancial 
year ended 31 March 2005

3. To re-elect Mr Stephen King Chang-Min as Director

4. To re-elect Dr Richard Charles Helfer as Director

5. To re-elect Mr Foo Say Mui a.k.a. Bill Foo as Director

6. To re-elect Mrs Helen Yeo Cheng Hoong as Director

7. To approve Directors’ fees payable by the Company

8. To appoint Auditors and authorise the Directors to fi x their remuneration

9. To approve the proposed share issue mandate

10. To authorise Directors to offer and grant options and allot/issue shares pursuant to  
the exercise of options granted under the Yellow Pages Share Option Scheme 

Dated this        day of                   2005 TOTAL 
NUMBER OF 
ORDINARY 

SHARES HELD

 
 Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

 IMPORTANT: Please read Notes.

Proxy Form



NOTES

1. If you have Ordinary Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the 

Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Ordinary Shares.  If you have Ordinary 

Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Ordinary Shares.  If you 

have Ordinary Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Ordinary Shares registered in your name 

in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares entered against your name in 

the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members.  If no number is inserted, the Proxy 

Form shall be deemed to relate to all the Ordinary Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more 

than two proxies to attend and vote instead of him.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be valid only if he specifies the proportion of his 

shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy. 

4. The Proxy Form must be lodged at the registered office of the Company at 1 Lorong 2 Toa Payoh, Yellow Pages Building, 

Singapore 319637, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

5. The Proxy Form must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing.  Where the Proxy 

Form is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney 

duly authorised.

6. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it 

thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies 

Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

GENERAL

The Company shall be entitled to reject the Proxy Form if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the 

true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the Proxy Form.  In 

addition, in the case of Ordinary Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any Proxy Form lodged if 

the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Ordinary Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register 

as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository 

(Pte) Limited to the Company.
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